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FOREWORD TO THE II EDITION 
 

The second edition of CBA Doing Business in Italy booklet acknowledges (i) the  
main changes occurred in the last two years in the Italian domestic law (both from 
a tax and corporate standpoint) and (ii) the new specific tax rules introduced by the 
Decree n. 147 dated September 14th, 2015 (“Decreto Internazionalizzazione”) in 
order to boost growth and internationalization of the Italian ente prises 
(“Internationalization Decree”).  

r
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FOREWORD 
With a population of over 60 million people, Italy is the third largest economy in 
the Eurozone and the eighth largest in the world. Situated in Europe, it has a 
surface area of 301,230 square kilometres (116,306 sq. mi) and its capital city is 
Rome. Italy is a Republic and has a system, where: 

▪ Parliament is the legislative branch; 
▪ Government is the executive branch; 
▪ The Supreme Court and a number of other lower courts and judges act as the 

judicial branch. 

Italy has a codified Constitution as its own fundamental law. Primary legislation - 
i.e. laws, law decrees, legislative decrees and regional laws - must comply with it. 
The main sources of primary legislation are systematic collections of laws, designed 
to deal with the core areas of legislation. Examples of these are the Civil Code, the 
Code of Civil Procedure, the Criminal Code, the Criminal Procedure Code, the 
Insolvency Law, the Law on Banking and Credit regulations, the law on Financial 
Institutions and Markets, the Navigation Code, the Income Tax Code, etc. EU 
regulations, Directives, Decisions and Recommendations shall also be regarded (or 
taken into account) as relevant sources of law. 

The Italian economy is broad-based, encompassing almost every type of sector, 
from industry (particularly food, electronics, fashion, engineering, automotive, 
etc.), to agriculture (wine, olive oil, wheat, milk, fruit and vegetables) and services 
(mainly tourism, retail, banking and financial). Italy is the world’s sixth largest 
manufacturing country and is characterised by a smaller number of multinational 
corporations than other economies of comparable size, and a large number of 
dynamic small and medium-sized enterprises, clustered in several industrial 
districts. 

Italy is a member of the European Union and the European Monetary System. The 
country has adopted the Euro as its currency since 2002. Italy is also a member of 
the WTO. 

Italy has always been regarded as the main door to the European market and, in 
general, to the countries of the EMEA (Europe, Middle East and Africa) area. 
Besides its privileged location, i.e. in the centre of the Mediterranean, it also has a 
large network of tax treaties and provisions (participation exemption rules, tax 
rulings, etc.) that make it an excellent regional or main headquarters location for 
carrying on investment worldwide. 
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 GLOSSARY OF DEFINED TERMS 
ACE or NID: Aiuto alla crescita economica – Allowance for Corporate Equity or 
Net Interest Deduction. 

ACE or NID Carryforward: The part of ACE exceeding the taxable base, carried 
forward to future FYs. 

Blacklisted Country: a country considered (i) uncooperative for the purpose of 
effective exchanges of information or (ii) a tax haven (i.e. a country which provides 
for a nominal tax rate lower than 50% of the one that would apply in Italy).

CBA: CBA Studio Legale e Tributario. 

Corporate taxpayer: either of the following companies - subject to IRES for 
income tax purposes - (i) an S.r.l., (ii) an S.p.A. or (iii) an S.a.p.A. 

Debt-like instruments: instruments that condition the amount and timing of 
principal repayment to the general business performance of the company, different 
from Equity-like instruments. 

DPR: Presidential Decree  .

Equity-like instruments: instruments that may award the right to receive 
payments similar to dividends, besides, to some extent, voting rights. 

FDI: Foreign Direct Investment. 

FY(s): Fiscal Year(s). 

GAAP: Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. 

IRAP Decree: Legislative Decree no. 446 (December 15th, 1997). 

ITC: Italian Income Tax Code (“Testo Unico delle Imposte sui Redditi”), 
Presidential Decree no. 917 (December 22nd, 1986). 

IMU: Imposta municipale propria - Municipal tax on real property. 

Interest Carryforward: the amount of non-deductible interest expenses carried 
forward to future fiscal years. 

Internationalization ecree: Legislative Decree no. 147 of 2015 introduced for 
the purpose of pushing the growth and internationalization of domestic enterprises 
and the investments of foreign entities in Italy, whose main measures are pointed 
out in this booklet. 

D

IRAP: Imposta Regionale sulle Attività Produttive – Regional Business Tax. 
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IRES: Imposta sul Reddito delle Società – Corporate Income Tax. The tax applies 
to taxable income at a 24% rate, starting from FY 2017 (during previous years the 
tax rate was 27.5%). 

IRPEF: Imposta sul Reddito delle Persone Fisiche - Individual Income Tax. The 
tax applies to taxable income at the following (progressive) rates: 

▪ 23% on income up to € 15,000; 
▪ 27% on income between € 15,000 and € 28,000; 
▪ 38% on income between € 28,000 and € 55,000; 
▪ 41% on income between € 55,000 and € 75,000; 
▪ 43% on income over € 75,000. 

Italian Office of Records: it is the Italian civil registry of resident population. 

Limited Company: a company type, set up by incorporation, with separate legal 
personality. 

Member: a person having an interest in an S.r.l. 

NOL Carryforward: Net Operating Losses (occurring whenever a company has 
more deductible expenses than taxable revenues in a fiscal year), carried forward to 
future FYs profits, reducing income tax liability for such fiscal years. 

Official Register of Land and Property: “Catasto” (Cadastre) – Italian system of 
land and property registration. It is a comprehensive register of real estate or real 
property, commonly including details on the ownership, the precise location and 
the notional cadastral income (i.e. value) pertaining to land parcels or property. 

Partnership: a company type that does not require incorporation, where a group 
of people (partners) joins together in order to carry on a trade. Each person 
contributes money, property, labour or skill, and expects to share in the profits and 
losses of the business. 

PE(s): permanent establishment(s). 

RP(s): representative office(s)  .

S.a.p.A.: Società in accomandita per azioni (Partnership limited by Shares) – a 
hybrid entity similar to a limited partnership, where limited (“accomandanti”) and 
general (it. “accomandatari”) partners are also shareholders. 

S.a.s.: Società in accomandita semplice (Limited Partnership) – a partnership 
where partners are either general partners (“accomandatari”) or limited partners 
(“accomandanti”). 

S.n.c.: Società in nome collettivo (General Partnership) – a Partnership where all 
partners are general partners. 

S.p.A.: Società per azioni (Joint-Stock company) – a type of Limited Company. 

10 Doing business in Italy - A guide for foreign investors



 

 Doing business in Italy – A guide for foreign investors   11 
 

IRES: Imposta sul Reddito delle Società – Corporate Income Tax. The tax applies 
to taxable income at a 24% rate, starting from FY 2017 (during previous years the 
tax rate was 27.5%). 

IRPEF: Imposta sul Reddito delle Persone Fisiche - Individual Income Tax. The 
tax applies to taxable income at the following (progressive) rates: 

▪ 23% on income up to € 15,000; 
▪ 27% on income between € 15,000 and € 28,000; 
▪ 38% on income between € 28,000 and € 55,000; 
▪ 41% on income between € 55,000 and € 75,000; 
▪ 43% on income over € 75,000. 

Italian Office of Records: it is the Italian civil registry of resident population. 

Limited Company: a company type, set up by incorporation, with separate legal 
personality. 

Member: a person having an interest in an S.r.l. 

NOL Carryforward: Net Operating Losses (occurring whenever a company has 
more deductible expenses than taxable revenues in a fiscal year), carried forward to 
future FYs profits, reducing income tax liability for such fiscal years. 

Official Register of Land and Property: “Catasto” (Cadastre) – Italian system of 
land and property registration. It is a comprehensive register of real estate or real 
property, commonly including details on the ownership, the precise location and 
the notional cadastral income (i.e. value) pertaining to land parcels or property. 

Partnership: a company type that does not require incorporation, where a group 
of people (partners) joins together in order to carry on a trade. Each person 
contributes money, property, labour or skill, and expects to share in the profits and 
losses of the business. 

PE(s): permanent establishment(s). 

RP(s): representative office(s)  .

S.a.p.A.: Società in accomandita per azioni (Partnership limited by Shares) – a 
hybrid entity similar to a limited partnership, where limited (“accomandanti”) and 
general (it. “accomandatari”) partners are also shareholders. 

S.a.s.: Società in accomandita semplice (Limited Partnership) – a partnership 
where partners are either general partners (“accomandatari”) or limited partners 
(“accomandanti”). 

S.n.c.: Società in nome collettivo (General Partnership) – a Partnership where all 
partners are general partners. 

S.p.A.: Società per azioni (Joint-Stock company) – a type of Limited Company. 

 

12  Doing business in Italy – A guide for foreign investors 

S.r.l.: Società a respondabilità limitata (Limited Liability Company) - a type of 
Limited Company. 

Shareholder: a person holding shares (“azionista”) i.e. stakes in an S.p.A. or in an 
S.a.p.A. 

T.A.: the Italian Tax Authority. 

TASI: Tassa sui Servizi Indivisibili - Local service tax. 

VAT: Imposta sul Valore Aggiunto (Value Added Tax). 

VAT Decree: Presidential Decree no. 633 (October 26th, 1972). 

VAT Directive: Council Directive 2006/112/EC (November 28th, 2006) on the 
common system of value added tax. 

Whitelisted Country: A country that is not a Blacklisted Country. 
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SCOPE OF WORK 
This guide aims at providing general insight into the main instruments and 
opportunities available to investors for doing business in Italy; in particular, this 
work is intended as an introductory guide for foreign investors to the main legal 
and tax issues they will most likely encounter upon deciding to enter, invest and 
exit the Italian market. 

More in detail, the guide provides an overview on the most common forms of 
investment in Italy, the most relevant regulatory and tax matters, besides a general 
review on the most relevant labour law topics. 

 

 

 

DISCLAIMER 
Please be aware that this document (i) contains information of general nature only, 
(ii) shall not be intended as an offer or a solicitation for business to anyone in any 
jurisdiction, (iii) does not constitute financial, legal, tax or other professional 
advice, and you should not act upon it without first obtaining specific professional 
advice based on your particular circumstances. 

While every care has been taken in preparing this document, CBA makes no 
guarantee, representation or warranty (express or implied) as to its accuracy or 
completeness, and under no circumstances will CBA be liable for any loss caused 
by reliance on any opinion or statement made in this document. 

This document is produced by CBA to the benefit of the recipients and shall not 
be copied, reproduced, transmitted or further distributed by any recipient, unless 
expressly authorised by CBA in writing. 
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INTRODUCTION 
1. METHODS FOR FDI IN ITALY 
The decision to enter the Italian market should always be taken after careful 
consideration of the business reasons underlying it. According to the degree of 
commitment the investor is willing to undertake, there are mainly three methods 
for foreign direct investment (“FDI”) in Italy: 

▪ Investment in a subsidiary company. This type of investment is viable for 
investors who intend to undertake a strong level of commitment to the Italian 
market and, thus, decide to (i) establish a wholly-owned subsidiary or (ii) 
acquire full stakes in an already existing company. 

▪ Participating in an equity joint venture with another investor or enterprise. 
This generally implies setting up a company or a partnership with another 
(generally local) investor for a specific purpose or project, on the basis of a 
specific contractual agreement according to which each party may contribute 
capital, products and/or expertise, depending on their resources, skills and on 
their share in the returns and the risks of the investment. 

▪ Establishment of a branch, office, factory, etc. These forms of investment 
generally require a lower level of commitment for the investor, since they 
imply having the foreign parent company operate in Italy directly by either: 

(i) performing activities limited to representative functions, i.e. marketing 
and sales assistance (representative office) with no taxable presence in the 
country or 

(ii) carrying out actual business activities, having established a fixed place of 
business in the country (permanent establishment). 
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2. STRUCTURE OF WORK 
This booklet is divided into three Parts. 

The first two Parts address the main issues for FDI with specific reference to the 
following investment schemes: 

(I) ownership of a subsidiary or of stakes in a company (“Part I – Investment 
in a company”); 

(II) ownership of a branch, office, factory, etc. (“Part II – Permanent 
Establishments and Representative Offices”). 

Each of these parts considers the following main issues: 

▪ regulatory background and applicable taxes, providing a general overview 
on the main legal, regulatory and tax consequences of owning a company, a 
permanent establishment or a representative office in Italy; 

▪ entry phase, addressing the main investment opportunities available for 
investors and the decisions related to its funding upon entering the 
investment; 

▪ investment period, regarding, mainly, taxation of returns paid to foreign 
investors, like dividends, interest, branch profits, etc.; 

▪ exit phase, considering the opportunities for investors to either divest or 
change the degree of physical presence in the country (e.g., change from a 
representative office to a branch or to a company for a stronger commitment, 
or, otherwise, downgrading to a permanent establishment or to a 
representative office, etc.). 

The last Part of this work aims at providing a general overview on Italian labour 
law provisions and regulations that apply to Italian resident companies, permanent 
establishment or representative offices and the main issues regarding the 
relationships between employees, employers, trade unions and the government. A 
brief outlook on the topic of “employee secondment agreements” shall also be 
provided (“Part III – An introduction to Italian labour law”). 
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 PART I 
INVESTMENT IN A COMPANY 

Overview 
As already mentioned in the Introduction, foreign investors deciding to enter the 
Italian market by setting up a subsidiary or purchasing one, should always make 
this decision after considering the main implication: owning a subsidiary shows a 
strong level of commitment to the Italian market and implies a relevant presence in 
the country. The decision to set up (or purchase) an Italian subsidiary, thus, should 
always come after careful consideration of the particular business reasons that 
support it.  

Structure 
This Part is divided into the following chapters: 

▪ Regulatory background (Chapter 1); 

▪ Main Taxes (Chapter 2); 

▪ Entry Phase (Chapter 3); 

▪ Investment period (Chapter 4); 

▪ Exit Phase (Chapter 5). 

 

16  Doing business in Italy – A guide for foreign investors 

 PART I 
INVESTMENT IN A COMPANY 

Overview 
As already mentioned in the Introduction, foreign investors deciding to enter the 
Italian market by setting up a subsidiary or purchasing one, should always make 
this decision after considering the main implication: owning a subsidiary shows a 
strong level of commitment to the Italian market and implies a relevant presence in 
the country. The decision to set up (or purchase) an Italian subsidiary, thus, should 
always come after careful consideration of the particular business reasons that 
support it.  

Structure 
This Part is divided into the following chapters: 

▪ Regulatory background (Chapter 1); 

▪ Main Taxes (Chapter 2); 

▪ Entry Phase (Chapter 3); 

▪ Investment period (Chapter 4); 

▪ Exit Phase (Chapter 5). 

  15Doing business in Italy - A guide for foreign investors



 

 Doing business in Italy – A guide for foreign investors   17 
 

1. REGULATORY BACKGROUND 
Introduction  
Aim of this chapter is to provide an overview on company types generally 
available to investors in Italy, their set-up process and corporate governance, 
together with a brief insight into their main accounting and reporting obligations. 

In particular, we will mostly focus on the set-up process and main corporate 
governance issues related to Limited Companies (as defined hereinafter), since 
they are generally most suitable for the purpose of FDI. 

For the sake of clarity, any time the term “company” is used, it shall mean any of 
the following: a “Limited Company”, a “Partnership” and/or a “Partnership 
Limited by Shares” (as defined hereinafter). 

Chapter Structure 
This chapter is divided into the following paragraphs: 

▪ Types of business entity and investor liability (Paragraph 1.1); 

▪ Limited Companies: main features (Paragraph 1.2); 

▪ Joint-Stock Companies: corporate governance (Paragraph 1.3); 

▪ Limited Liability Companies: corporate governance (Paragraph 1.4); 

▪ Management and control activities (Paragraph 1.5); 

▪ Accounting and reporting (Paragraph 1.6). 
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1.1 Types of business entity and investor liability 
Italian corporate law provides the main instruments for carrying on a business in 
Italy: it is, thus, possible to set up a Partnership or a Limited Company according 
to the models provided by the Italian Civil Code. 

1.1.1 Partnerships 

Partnerships are arrangements where two or more parties (i.e. partners) agree to 
contribute goods and services for the purpose of carrying on a business, by signing 
the relevant Articles of Partnership.  

According to the Italian Civil Code, partners can choose to either set up (i) a 
General Partnership (so-called “Società in nome collettivo” or “S.n.c.”) or (ii) a 
Limited Partnership (so-called “Società in accomandita semplice” or “S.a.s.”). 

Partnerships are unincorporated entities and, thus, do not have separate legal 
personality. In general, partners are personally liable, jointly and severally, for 
debts incurred by the Partnership, without any limitation of liability. The main 
implication of this is that whenever a Partnership’s assets are not enough to pay 
off a creditor, a partner’s personal assets can be subject to attachment and 
liquidation for that purpose. 

This is true for all partners of a General Partnership; on the other hand, Limited 
Partnerships have both partners who are liable without limitations (so called 
“General Partners” - or “Accomandatari” in Italian) and partners who are only 
liable within the amount of capital they have subscribed (so called “Limited 
Partners” - or “Accomandanti” in Italian). 

1.1.2 Limited Companies  

Limited Companies are corporate entities that can be set up by one or more 
investors by signing of the relevant Articles of Incorporation. According to the 
Italian Civil Code, the following Limited Company types are available for investors: 
(i) Joint-Stock Companies (“Società per azioni” or “S.p.A.”) and (ii) Limited 
Liability Companies (“Società a responsabilità limitata or “S.r.l.”). 

Limited Companies are generally incorporated entities with separate legal 
personality and limited liability. This means that their owners are not personally 
liable for any of the debts of the Limited Company, other than for the value of 
their investment. 

Owners of an S.p.A. are generally referred to as shareholders (so-called “azionisti”, 
in Italian) since their investment is physically represented by a certain number of 
share certificates (shares or stock - “azioni” in Italian). A share represents an 
indivisible unit of capital of the Joint-Stock company, which expresses the 
ownership relation between the company and the shareholder. The denominated 
value of a share is its face value: the total capital of the S.p.A. (“share capital”) is 
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divided into a number of shares with equal face value and the number of shares 
owned by a shareholder is directly equivalent to the percentage of capital owned. 
In general, ownership of shares gives rise to a different set of rights, among which, 
most importantly, voting rights and rights to dividends.

The capital of an S.r.l., instead, may not be divided into shares; thus, each owner 
(or member) of an S.r.l. can only be deemed to have an interest (in Italian, “quota”) 
in the company.

1.1.3 Partnerships limited by Shares

The Italian Civil Code also provides for a hybrid entity between a Limited 
Partnership and a Joint-Stock Company, i.e. so-called “Partnerships Limited by 
Shares” (“Società in Accomandita per Azioni” or “S.a.p.A.”). The capital and 
ownership of an S.a.p.A. is divided into shares (same as for an S.p.A.) and 
ownership of such shares is divided between shareholders with limited liability 
(“Accomandanti”) and partners-shareholders with full liability (“Accomandatari”).

PARTNERSHIPS LIMITED COMPANIES

GENERAL
PARTNER PARTNERS

LIMITEDGENERAL
PARTNER

SHAREHOLDERSLIMITED

MEMBERS
PARTNERS
GENERAL

PARTNERS

S.r.l.
LIMITED LIABILITY 

COMPANY
S.a.p.A.

PARTNERSHIP 
LIMITED BY SHARES

S.p.A.
JOINT-STOCK 

COMPANY

S.n.c.
GENERAL 

PARTNERSHIP

S.a.s.
LIMITED 

PARTNERSHIP
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1.2 Limited Companies: main features 
1.2.1 Joint-Stock Companies: set-up 

Italian Joint-Stock Companies may have one or more shareholders; thus, an S.p.A. 
may be established either by contract (where two or more parties are involved) or 
by unilateral deed (in case of a sole shareholder). 

Founders of an S.p.A. usually set up the company by signing the following 
documents in the presence of a notary: (i) the Articles of Incorporation and (ii) the 
company By-laws, which regulate the functioning of the company. Within 20 days 
from the signing, the notary deposits the Articles of Incorporation and the By-laws 
to the Registrar of Companies; as a result, the S.p.A. is officially incorporated and, 
thus, awarded legal personality. 

1.2.2 Joint-Stock Companies: capital requirements and contributions 

An S.p.A. can only be incorporated with a minimum capital of € 50,000. 

At the time of incorporation, shareholders must subscribe the entire share capital 
and pay in (i) at least 25% of their cash contributions, and (ii) 100% of their in-
kind contributions. 

In no case may the overall amount of paid-in capital be lower than that subscribed; 
for that purpose, a special appraisal procedure applies to in-kind contributions. 

Also, shareholders may agree to pay in additional amounts in excess of subscribed 
share capital, serving as additional paid-in capital: in such a case, said contributions 
must be entirely paid up upon incorporation and credited to a so-called “share 
premium reserve” account. 

1.2.3 Joint-Stock Companies: shares 

Shares have an equal face value (the nominal value of each share corresponds to a 
fraction of the entire share capital) and attribute equal rights to their holders (e.g. 
voting rights, right to a share of net profits, etc.). It is possible, however, to create 
different share classes, each having its own set of rights. For example, the company 
could issue voting and non-voting shares, shares with limited voting or with 
multiple voting (with a general maximum of three votes per share). 

No bearer shares are generally allowed (except for preferred stock), therefore 
companies often issue registered shares only. Also, shares are generally freely 
transferable without limitations (unless differently provided by the By-laws). 

For capital increases, shareholders generally have a pre-emption right on new share 
issues, unless differently provided and agreed upon by a (special) majority of 
shareholders in particular circumstances (e.g., to allow new shareholders in, for the 
purpose of share-based award schemes to the benefit of employees, etc.). 

1.2.4 Joint-Stock Companies: Equity-like instruments 
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1.2 Limited Companies: main features 
1.2.1 Joint-Stock Companies: set-up 
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Besides shares, an S.p.A. could also create Equity-like Instruments, i.e. instruments 
that may award the right to receive payments similar to dividends (e.g. a 
proportional share on company profits, on an unconditioned basis or related to the 
outcome of a special venture, conditional on a certain event, etc.), besides, to some 
extent, voting rights. Owners of such instruments do not qualify as shareholders 
and their contributions do not add up to share capital, but, instead, flow into a 
special reserve account. 

Company By-laws may even devolve the power to elect up to one member of (i) 
the Board of Directors, (ii) the Board of Statutory Auditors and/or (iii) the 
Supervisory Board to holders of specific Equity-like instruments. In no case may 
these instruments award voting rights to the General Meeting of Shareholders. 

1.2.5 Joint-Stock Companies: bonds and other Debt-like instruments 

An S.p.A. could also issue corporate bonds (in Italian, “obbligazioni”) in order to 
get financing for its operations. Holders of a corporate bond are generally entitled 
to repayment of principal and interest. According to the Italian Civil Code, it is 
possible for an S.p.A. to issue corporate bonds within the limits of twice the 
amount of equity resulting from its financial statements (specific exemptions from 
this rule may apply). 

It is possible to issue different types of bonds, e.g. fixed vs. floating rate, zero-
coupon bonds (sold at discount and with no coupons), convertible bonds (bonds 
that may be converted into company shares) and subordinated bonds (bonds 
ranking after other company debts in case of a liquidation). It is, also, possible to 
condition the amount and the timing of interest payments to certain objective 
parameters (including company performance).  

An S.p.A., finally, could also issue other Debt-like Instruments, which condition 
the amount and timing of principal repayment to the general business performance 
of the company. Since they do not award the right to a share of company profits or 
voting rights similar to their Equity-Like counterparts, these instruments are 
generally subject to the same rules applicable for corporate bonds. 

 

1.2.6 Joint-Stock Companies: Shareholders’ Loans 

It is possible for shareholders to use interest-bearing or interest-free loans in order 
to finance the operations of an S.p.A. In case of liquidation, a shareholder loan is 
generally subordinated in repayment to other company debts. 

1.2.7 Limited Liability Companies: set-up 

Italian Limited Liability Companies may have one or more shareholders; thus, an 
S.r.l. may be established either by contract (where two or more parties are 
involved) or by unilateral deed (in case of a sole member). 
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Members of an S.r.l. sign the company’s Articles of Incorporation and the By-laws 
in the presence of a notary, who then deposits these documents to the Registrar of 
Companies within 20 days. After this, the S.r.l. acquires its legal personality, thus 
completing its incorporation process. 

1.2.8 Limited Liability Companies: capital requirements and contributions 

An S.r.l. can be incorporated with a minimum capital of € 10,000 (some 
exemptions may apply in particular circumstances). 

As for contributions, rules similar to those of incorporation of an S.p.A. apply 
(payment of up to 25% of capital or 100% in case of a single-member S.r.l., value 
of contributions equal or higher than the amount of capital subscribed, etc.). 

1.2.9 Limited Liability Companies: interests in an S.r.l. 

As already mentioned, the capital of an S.r.l. may not be represented by shares; 
members only have interests in an S.r.l., and, in general, their voting rights and 
right to a share of company profits are proportional to the amount of capital 
commitment subscribed. It is, however, possible to grant some specific members 
with a different set of rights, i.e. voting rights and/or a preference in the 
distribution of profits. 

In general, interests in an S.r.l. are freely transferable, but may not be sold to the 
public via an Initial Public Offering (as is the case, instead, for shares of an S.p.A.). 

Finally, as with an S.p.A., all members are generally granted a pre-emption right 
whenever a capital increase occurs. It is possible, however, to limit said right so as 
to allow new members in, on condition that all those who voted against such 
resolution at the Members’ Meeting are granted the right to withdraw from the 
S.r.l. in exchange for a fair consideration. 

 

1.2.10 Limited Liability Companies: debt securities and member loans 

In general, an S.r.l. may not issue corporate bonds, but only some sort of debt 
securities that can only be subscribed by professional investors and financial 
institutions. 

Members of an S.r.l. may also lend money to their company, separately from their 
capital contributions. In this case, should the S.r.l. go into liquidation, it may only 
repay such loans after paying off all of its debts with third parties. 

 

1.3 Joint-Stock Companies: corporate governance 
An S.p.A. may adopt three different corporate governance systems: 
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▪ Traditional System; 
▪ Two-Tier System; 
▪ One-Tier System. 

1.3.1 Traditional System 

The Traditional System allows shareholders to appoint a Board of Directors and a 
Board of Statutory Auditors. 

1.3.1.1 Board of Directors 

The management of company lies with the Board of Directors who handle all 
matters necessary for the attainment of the corporate purpose and ensure 
compliance with the law. Directors are elected for a three-year term and may be re-
elected by resolution of shareholders in general meeting. The Board of Directors, 
generally, chooses its Chairman among its members and may delegate its functions 
to one or more directors, i.e. a Chief Executive Officer or an Executive 
Committee. Instead of a Board of Directors, it is also possible to appoint a sole 
director. 

1.3.1.2 Board of Statutory Auditors 

Shareholders also elect a Board of Statutory Auditors, made up of three to five 
permanent members, of which at least one registered auditor, for a three-year term. 
Statutory Auditors can be re-elected but generally may not be removed by 
shareholders until expiration of their term. The Board of Statutory Auditors 
supervises the Board of Directors and, in general, all company affairs, with 
particular regard to the following aspects: 

▪ general compliance with applicable laws and By-laws with reference to any 
acts or resolutions adopted by corporate bodies; 

▪ compliance with principles of good administration, i.e. the fact that directors 
are making well-informed, reasonable decisions, taking into account and being 
aware of any risks associated with these; 

▪ existence of an efficient (i) organisational structure, (ii) internal audit, (iii) 
accounting and administration, that are also well-suited to the needs of that 
particular company, i.e. with reference to its size and to the complexity of its 
operations; 

▪ compliance with applicable laws and principles that regulate drafting and 
preparation of the company’s financial statements. 

1.3.1.3 External Auditors 

External auditing is a legal requirement for all Italian Joint-Stock Companies, in 
order to ascertain the validity and reliability of information contained in financial 
statements as well as providing an assessment of a system’s internal control. 
Therefore, shareholders in general meeting shall appoint an independent, certified 
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Companies within 20 days. After this, the S.r.l. acquires its legal personality, thus 
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whenever a capital increase occurs. It is possible, however, to limit said right so as 
to allow new members in, on condition that all those who voted against such 
resolution at the Members’ Meeting are granted the right to withdraw from the 
S.r.l. in exchange for a fair consideration. 

 

1.2.10 Limited Liability Companies: debt securities and member loans 

In general, an S.r.l. may not issue corporate bonds, but only some sort of debt 
securities that can only be subscribed by professional investors and financial 
institutions. 

Members of an S.r.l. may also lend money to their company, separately from their 
capital contributions. In this case, should the S.r.l. go into liquidation, it may only 
repay such loans after paying off all of its debts with third parties. 

 

1.3 Joint-Stock Companies: corporate governance 
An S.p.A. may adopt three different corporate governance systems: 
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Members of an S.r.l. sign the company’s Articles of Incorporation and the By-laws 
in the presence of a notary, who then deposits these documents to the Registrar of 
Companies within 20 days. After this, the S.r.l. acquires its legal personality, thus 
completing its incorporation process. 

1.2.8 Limited Liability Companies: capital requirements and contributions 
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S.r.l. in exchange for a fair consideration. 
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auditor or auditing firm for a three-year term, among a list of candidates selected 
by the Board of Statutory Auditors. 

Each year, the External Auditor issues a report, containing an opinion on whether 
the financial statements present fairly the financial position of the company and 
the results of its operations and cash flows for the fiscal year, in accordance with 
Italian GAAP (or IAS/IFRS, for companies that comply with those – see 
Paragraph 1.4). 

In some cases, the Board of Statutory Auditors may be in charge of the external 
audit on the company’s accounts: in such a case, Statutory Auditors shall all be 
registered auditors and respect more stringent independence requirements. 
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1.3.2 Two-Tier System 

In a Two-Tier system, shareholders elect the so-called “Supervisory Board”, a 
corporate body with the same powers and duties as those of the Board of Statutory 
Auditors. The Supervisory Board, however, also has other functions normally 
attributed to shareholders, like, for example, that of electing and removing 
members of the Board of Directors and approving company’s financial statements. 

Under this system, shareholders have the power to choose and, potentially, remove 
members of the Supervisory Board, together with other powers, e.g., resolving on 
dividend distributions, appointing the External Auditor, etc., but may not elect 
members of the Board of Directors directly. 
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1.3.3 One-Tier System

Under a One-Tier system, the Board of Directors performs both management and Tier system
supervisory functions. To that end, at least one third of its (independent) members 
make up the so-called “audit committee”, with similar powers as Statutory 
Auditors in traditional systems. Under this system, shareholders still have to 
appoint an External Auditor.

SHAREHOLDERS

ONE-TIER GOVERNANCE

S.p.A.

BOARD
OF

DIRECTORS

EXTERNAL 
AUDITORS

AUDIT
COMMITTEE

24 Doing business in Italy - A guide for foreign investors



SHAREHOLDERS

S.p.A.

TWO-TIER GOVERNANCE

SUPERVISORY 
BOARD

EXTERNAL 
AUDITORS

SHAREHOLDERS

ONE-TIER GOVERNANCE

S.p.A.
EXTERNAL 
AUDITORS

AUDIT
COMMITTEE

1.4 Limited Liability Companies: Corporate Governance
1.4.1 Directors
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Management of an S.r.l. may be entrusted to a sole director or to a board of 
directors. Unless the By-laws provide otherwise, directors are generally chosen 
among company members. Members of the S.r.l. that are not also directors are 
entitled to receive information from directors and to consult and inspect the 
company’s books and management documentation. 

1.4.2 Statutory Auditor(s) 

Members of an S.r.l. shall appoint a Statutory Auditor if: 

(i) the company is legally obligated to prepare and issue consolidated 
financial statements; 

(ii) it owns and/or controls another company subject to external auditing 
and/or 

(iii) two of the following requirements are met: 
(a) total assets amount to more than €/MIO 4.4; 
(b) total revenues amount to more than €/MIO 8.8; and/or 
(c) it has, on average, 50 or more employees. 

The Statutory Auditor generally has the same functions as the Board of Statutory 
Auditors in a Joint-Stock Company under traditional corporate governance. 
Besides, members may also choose to appoint a Board of Statutory Auditors, as 
shareholders do in an S.p.A. under traditional corporate governance, if the By-laws 
so provide. 

Members may either appoint an External Auditor or, rather, entrust the Statutory 
Auditor(s) with that task (if the By-laws so provide). 

 

1.5 Management and control of a subsidiary 
According to the provisions of Article 2497 of the Italian Civil Code, companies or 
other entities that manage and control an Italian subsidiary are liable for failure to 
comply with general good administration principles. The provisions in hand apply 
to any controlling entity, regardless of it being an Italian or a foreign resident. 

Aim of these provisions is to regulate the relationship and the transactions 
occurring between companies belonging to a group, in order to protect external 
stakeholders (i.e. other owners or creditors) from any prejudice they might suffer 
from such circumstance. In general, pursue of a common group purpose may not 
come with a price for any single group company and, thus, for any of its external 
stakeholders. 

Therefore, any company or entity that actively exercises its management and 
control on an Italian subsidiary shall be personally liable: 

▪ towards other partners, members or shareholders of that subsidiary for any 
prejudice to company profitability and to the value of their interests; 
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▪ towards the creditors of the subsidiary for any prejudice to the value of overall 
company assets. 

The subsidiary shall disclose the fact that it is under management and control of 
another company on all its formal acts and correspondence, and file a specific 
notice with the Registrar of Companies with the same information. 

In general, the fact that a company manages and controls another is presumed 
whenever it owns the majority of voting rights in the latter. 

1.6 Accounting and reporting 
Accounting and reporting are mainly regulated and influenced by the following 
laws and provisions: the Italian Civil Code; the Italian Tax Code, Italian Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles (Italian GAAP), International Accounting 
Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards (IAS/IFRS). 

 

1.6.1 Financial Statements 

According to Italian corporate law, companies are generally required to keep a 
general ledger and to do their own accounting according to Italian GAAP. 
However, companies listed in stock markets, banks and insurance companies, are 
generally required to adopt IAS/IFRS. Other companies may also elect to use 
IAS/IFRS instead of Italian GAAP. 

In general, a company prepares and issues financial statements at the end of each 
fiscal year, which shall be made up of the following: a balance sheet, an income 
statement, a statement of cash flows, notes to the accounts and a Directors’ 
Report. Smaller companies may prepare simplified financial statements. Statutory 
Auditors and External Auditors (whenever present) shall also issue a report on 
their activities with their own opinion on the company’s financial statements. 

In general, directors of Limited Companies prepare financial statements and call 
the shareholders’ or members’ meeting within 120 days (or in special 
circumstances, 180 days) after the end of the company’s fiscal year. Shareholders 
or Members in General Meeting (or the Supervisory Board, in case of two-tier 
governance) resolve on and adopt the company’s financial statements. 

Simplified procedures may apply to smaller Limited Liability Companies and 
Partnerships. 

Financial statements shall be filed with the Registrar of Companies within one 
month after their adoption. 

1.6.2 Other requirements 

Small enterprises and partnerships generally only have accounting books, e.g., a 
general ledger, a book of inventories, a book of tangible assets, etc. 
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Joint-Stock Companies shall have an additional set of books, e.g., a register of 
shareholders, books of minutes for (i) shareholders’ meetings, (ii) Board of 
Directors’ meetings and (iii) Board of Statutory Auditors’ meetings, etc. 

Limited Liability Companies shall have their own additional set of books, e.g. 
books of minutes for (i) Members’ meetings, (ii) Directors’ Meetings and, 
whenever present, (iii) Statutory Auditors’ meetings. 
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2. MAIN TAXES 
Introduction 
This chapter provides a general overview on the main taxes, both direct and 
indirect, that apply to Italian resident individuals and companies, and on other 
relevant tax legislation. A brief outlook on tax audits and litigations is also 
provided. 

As a general rule, it should be noted that any time (i) both Italy and another 
country impose taxes on the same income or capital and (ii) a Double Taxation 
Treaty exists between Italy and said other country, treaty provisions shall always 
prevail over domestic ones, if they are more favourable for the taxpayer. 

Chapter Structure 
This chapter is structured as follows: 

▪ Individual direct taxation (Paragraph 2.1)  ;

▪ Partnership direct taxation (Paragraph 2.2); 

▪ Corporate taxation: general rules (Paragraph 2.3); 

▪ Indirect taxation: Value Added Tax (VAT) (Paragraph 2.4); 

▪ Indirect taxation: real estate taxes (Paragraph 2.5); 

▪ Indirect taxation: transfer taxes (Paragraph 2.6); 

▪ Customs (Paragraph 2.7); 

▪ Provisions on non-operating companies (Paragraph 2.8); 

▪ Tax audits and litigations (Paragraph 2.  9).
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2.1 Individual direct taxation 

2.1.1 Residence 

Direct taxation of individuals in Italy depends on their residence status. As a 
general rule, a resident individual is taxed on a worldwide basis, i.e. on all his 
income, regardless of its source. Non-resident individuals, instead, are only taxed 
on income sourced in Italy. In order to assess if an individual is a tax resident of 
Italy, one of the following conditions must be met: 

(1) being registered with the Italian Office of Records; 
(2) having a habitual abode in Italy; 
(3) having their main centre of vital interests in Italy, for the most part of a Fiscal Year

(183 days).  

Therefore, whenever one of these conditions is met, the individual is deemed to be 
a resident of Italy for the whole fiscal year (January 1st, 20XX – December 31st, 
20XX), since there are no Italian tax provisions allowing so-called “split-year”. 

2.1.1.1 Registration to the Italian Office of Records 

The Italian Office of Records is kept by the municipality an individual lives in, 
recording his/her personal data (family name, first name, gender, date and place of 
birth, etc.). A person who intends to spend more than three months in Italy shall 
make an application to the municipality he/she lives in, requesting registration in 
its Office of Records. Registration for more than 183 days during the FY is enough 
for the individual to be considered a tax resident of Italy. 

2.1.1.2 Habitual abode 

The habitual abode is a place where the individual lives/is willing to live 
permanently. 

2.1.1.3 Centre of vital interests 

An individual’s centre of vital interests is the place where his/her 
economic/professional, personal, moral and social interests and ties are. 

2.1.2 Income types and IRPEF rates 

According to Italian tax law, the following types of income are subject to individual 
income taxation: (i) income from property, (ii) financial income, (iii) employment 
income, (iv) professional income, (v) business income and (vi) other income 
(including capital gains). 

A progressive individual income tax (“IRPEF”) applies at the following rates: 

- 23% up to € 15,000; 
- 27% between € 15,000 and € 28,000  
- 38% between € 28,000 and € 55,000; 

;
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- 41% between € 55,000 and € 75,000; 
- 43% over € 75,000. 

Finally, Italian Regions and Municipalities may also levy local taxes on individual 
income (the former ranging, generally, between 0.5% and 2.63% according to the 
Region and the latter ranging between 0% and 0.9%, according to the 
municipality).  

 

2.2 Partnership direct taxation 

Partnerships doing business in Italy are not subject to tax on their income, but are 
only subject to Italian Regional Business Tax (so-called “IRAP”). 

However, Italian Budget Law 2017 introduced the so called IRI regime and “regime 
di cassa” on which bases partnership having revenues up to 700,000 €  (or up to 
€ 400,000 for partnership providing services) could opt for cash account bases 
instead of accrual bases (“regime di cassa”). 

Individual entrepreneurs and partnerships with revenues exceeding the above 
thresholds can apply for an optional regime called “IRI” in order to be taxed with 
a 24% rate on income that remains in the enterprise instead of being distributed to 
the partner/entrepreneur. 

2.2.1 Income tax: residence and taxable income 

According to the provisions of Article 5 of the Italian Tax Code, a partnership is a 
tax resident of Italy if its registered office, place of management or main business 
is in Italy for the greater part of the fiscal year (at least 183 days). 

Partnerships in Italy are regarded as “flow-through” entities. Under this regime, the 
partnership does not pay taxes on its income, but instead its partners are subject to 
income tax on their distributive share, regardless of any distribution occurring. A 
partners’ distributive share of the partnership income is measured by his interest in 
the partnership. 

In compliance with the provisions of Article 6, par. 3, ITC, all partnership income 
is “business income”, regardless of its source. This means that income from any 
sources, i.e. income from property, gains, dividends, interest, royalties and any 
other type of income arising from the activities of the partnership, can only be 
treated as business income, subject to the specific rules that apply to such income 
category. 

Business income is generally determined and assessed according to the rules that 
apply for corporate tax purposes (see par. 2.3), except for some rules that 
specifically apply to some items of income. For example, income from dividends 
and/or capital gains is only taxable within the limits of 49.72% of the gains, thanks 
to a partial exemption that specifically applies to partnership income. 
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2.2.2 Income tax: Partner’s income taxation 

Non-resident partners are generally subject to tax on their distributive share of 
partnership income (Article 23, par. 1, lett. g), ITC). 

2.2.3 Regional Business Tax (IRAP) 

According to Article 3, par. 1, lett. b), IRAP Decree, a partnership is subject to 
IRAP on the so-called “net value of production”, determined as the sum of all 
revenues and changes in inventories, minus the costs of parts, raw materials and 
supplies, services, depreciation, amortization and rents. The following items, 
among others, are non-deductible for IRAP purposes: 

▪ employee costs and similar costs (excluding the permanent personnel costs);  
▪ any interest payable accrued;  
▪ bad debt expenses. 

The standard rate for IRAP purposes is 3.9%, but Italian Regions can increase or 
decrease said rate by 0.92%.  

 

2.3 Corporate taxation 
Limited Companies and Partnerships Limited by Shares (“Corporate Taxpayers”) 
doing business in Italy are subject to two main direct taxes: Corporate Tax (IRES) 
and Italian Regional Business Tax (IRAP). 

Beforehand, Internationalization Decree introduced, at Article 1 and 2, the 
following measures: 

▪ New International ruling (Article 1). A company with international activity 
and the T.A. may sign a five-year binding pre-emptive agreement concerning 
the proper tax treatment of certain cross-border transactions. In particular, 
the Internationalization Decree broadens the scope of the international ruling 
procedure, which, in addition to transfer pricing, may apply to (i) the 
determination of the tax values of assets and liabilities in the event of 
company migrations to and from a foreign country; (ii) allocation of profits 
and losses to a PE of a foreign company in Italy or to a PE of an Italian 
company in another State; (iii) assessment on the effective existence in Italy of 
a PE of a non-resident company; (iv) the applicable tax regime in case of 
cross-border flows of dividends, interests, royalties and other income paid out 
or received by non-resident persons. 

▪ Ruling for qualified investments (Article 2). A company planning to invest 
in Italy may submit a new ruling procedure, in order to ask the T.A.’s opinion 
in advance with reference to various critical tax aspects of the planned 
investment and of any related extraordinary transaction, e.g., among others, (i) 
the tax regime applicable to the investment plan and any related extraordinary 
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2.2.2 Income tax: Partner’s income taxation 
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transaction that may be implemented, (ii) any potential risks of tax avoidance 
and/or evasion and (iii) the possibility to enter a specific tax regime or to 
benefit from specific tax provisions. The procedure applies to both Italian and 
foreign companies making a qualified investment in Italy for a minimum 
amount of €/MIO 30. The aforementioned investments must need to be 
characterized by a substantial and long-lasting positive impact on employment 
in Italy. 

2.3.1 Income tax (IRES): residence and taxable income 

Corporate Taxpayers are tax residents of Italy if their registered office, place of 
management or main business is in Italy for the greater part of the fiscal year (at 
least 183 days). 

As with partnership taxation, corporate taxation regards all income as “business 
income”, regardless of its sources. As a consequence, income from any sources, 
e.g., income from property, gains, dividends, interest, royalties and any other type 
of income arising from the activities of the company, can only be regarded as 
“business income”, subject to the specific rules that apply to such income type. 
According to Article 81, ITC, all income arising from a resident company is subject 
to IRES regardless of where (Italy or foreign country) it is sourced (“world-wide 
basis”). 

Starting from FY 2017, the applicable rate is 24% according to Article 77, ITC 
(until December 31st, 2016 the IRES rate was 27.5%). 

2.3.2 Income tax (IRES): general rules 

The following general rules apply: 

▪ Accrual principle (Article 109, par. 1, ITC). All income is taxable and 
expenses deductible upon accrual. However, an item of income or an expense 
of uncertain timing or amount shall only be taxable/deductible in the fiscal 
year when it becomes certain. 

▪ Previous recognition (Article 109, par. 4, ITC). In general, expenses are only 
deductible to the extent they have been previously recognized (according to 
the accrual principle) within the income statement. 

▪ Profit and loss correlation (Article 109, par. 5,  ITC). In general, expenses are 
only deductible if and to the extent that they are related to items of taxable 
income. Therefore, expenses related to exempt items of income are non-
deductible for IRES purposes. 

▪ Loss carryforwards (Article 84, par. 1 and 2, ITC). Whenever a company has 
more tax-deductible expenses than taxable revenues in a fiscal year, a net 
operating loss (“NOL”) will occur. Companies can generally carry forward 
such NOLs in order to apply them to future profits, thus reducing tax liability 
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for those fiscal years. According to the ITC, loss carryforwards are not subject 
to an expiration date and can be used to reduce up to 80% of a company’s 
taxable profits in a fiscal year. No NOL carryback is allowed. 

▪ Taxation of dividends and capital gains (Articles 89 and 87, ITC). A 95% 
exemption is generally available for dividends received by Corporate 
Taxpayers from participations in other companies, provided that such latter 
company is not a resident of a Blacklisted Country. The exemption also 
applies to capital gains on the disposal of participations if the following 
conditions are met: 

(i) the shares or interests are held for a minimum holding period of 12 
months; 

(ii) the shares or interests are recorded as “fixed financial assets” (according 
to Italian GAAP) or as financial assets that are not “held for trading” 
(according to IAS/IFRS) in the disposing investor’s financial statements; 

(iii) the participation is in a company that is not a resident of a Blacklisted 
Country; 

(iv) the participation is in a company that carries on an actual trade. As a 
general rule, passive income companies do not qualify for the exemption 
in hand. 

▪ Taxation of interest income and expenses (Articles 89 and 96, ITC). 
Interest income is generally taxable upon accrual. Interest expenses, instead, 
are deductible upon accrual according to the thin capitalisation rules set by 
Article 96, ITC (see par. 3.2.2).  

▪ Depreciation (Article 102, ITC). According to Italian civil law, companies 
record their investments in capital assets into their financial statements. Such 
assets are generally subject to depreciation according to their useful life. In 
general, according to Italian GAAP and IAS/IFRS, depreciation is calculated 
by using the straight-line depreciation method. Such depreciation represents a 
cost recorded in the company’s income statement. This cost is deductible for 
income tax purposes, within the limits set by a specific Ministerial Decree, 
which contains a list of the applicable depreciation rates for tax purposes, set 
according to (i) the type of capital asset employed and (ii) the business activity 
or industry of the company. 

▪ Labour costs (Article 95, ITC). In general, employee costs are deductible 
according to the accrual principle and the previous recognition principle. 
Director’s fees, instead, are only deductible upon payment. It should be noted 
that the company generally withholds part of an employee’s (or a director’s) 
salary (or fee), serving as an advance payment for his individual income taxes. 
When assessing withholding taxes owed by an employee (or a director), 
companies shall take into account his overall income from employment, i.e. all 
sums and values paid during a fiscal year in connection with the employment 
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relationship. Everything is relevant for this purpose, including fringe benefits, 
donations and, in general, incentive packages (in the form of a cash bonus or 
of stock options, company shares, etc.). 

▪ Supply contracts (Article 92 and 93, ITC). Supply contracts are contracts 
generally stipulated for the construction of an asset (or a combination of 
assets closely interrelated or interdependent) or the provision of various 
goods or services. According to the ITC, revenues arising from such contracts 
are recorded according to two different criteria in compliance with the 
contract’s length: 

for short-term contracts (i.e. contracts lasting up to 12 months), a 
company shall recognise taxable revenues only when the contract is 
fulfilled; 

- 

for long-term contracts (i.e. contracts lasting for more than 12 months), 
the percentage-of-completion method applies to work-in-progress 
evaluation, so as to immediately recognise a portion of (taxable) revenues 
on each fiscal year based on the supply progress. If any considerations 
were paid according to a progress report, such considerations shall be 
relevant for the purpose of work-in-progress evaluation and, thus, for the 
recognition of any resulting taxable revenues. 

- 

▪ Bad debt expenses and credit losses (Articles 101 and 106, ITC). Deduction of 
credit losses is possible only when certain elements of certainty and precision 
occur. For example, a credit loss is tax relevant if the debtor is bankrupt or 
has entered into a specific debt restructuring or crisis resolution procedure 
under the provisions of Italian Insolvency law, or whenever it is written off 
according to applicable accounting principles. Bad debt expenses on trade 
receivables are generally deductible within the limit of 0.50% of a credit’s 
nominal value. The amount of total bad debt provisions may not exceed the 
amount of 5% of overall trade receivables. Special rules apply to banks and 
financial institutions. 

▪ Foreign Tax Credits (Article 165, ITC). Whenever a foreign tax is paid, Italy 
may grant, under certain conditions, a Foreign Tax Credit (“FTC”) to mitigate 
the potential for double taxation of income. In case the FTC cannot be 
entirely benefited in a fiscal year, the Internationalization Decree has provided 
a carry back/forward mechanism. 

▪ Transfer pricing rules (Article 110, par. 7, ITC). Profits and losses arising 
from transactions with a foreign parent/subsidiary/sister company must 
occur at arm’s length (Article 110, par. 7, ITC). Italy generally complies with 
OECD principles on the matter (OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines). 
Particularly, companies preparing a certain set of documents (generally, a 
Masterfile and a Country File), detailing their own Transfer Pricing policies, 
are generally non-liable to penalties for failure to accurately comply with the 
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arm’s length principle. A specific Country-by-Country reporting is required 
for Italian parent companies of multinational groups whose consolidated 
turnover is at least €/MIO 750. Under certain conditions, the requirement 
also applies to Italian companies controlled by multinational groups based 
abroad. The international ruling procedure described at paragraph 2.3 may be 
entered in order to agree with the T.A. transfer pricing policies.  

▪ Transactions with Blacklisted Countries: the deductibility of costs arising 
from transactions with companies located in black list countries is subject to 
the Italian ordinary deductibility rules (i.e. the limit imposed by the former art. 
110, par. 10, ITC are finally overcome). 

▪ CFC Rules (Article 167, ITC): rules on controlled foreign companies apply to 
subsidiaries located in Blacklisted Countries, providing for the taxation of 
subsidiary income in the hands of the Italian parent company. These rules also 
apply to those controlled foreign companies located in EU and EEA 
countries, which, in general, are both (i) mere passive companies and (ii) 
subject to low levels of taxation  less then the 50% of the effective tax rate 
that the foreign company should have applied if resident in Italy)  .

( i.e.

2.3.3 Income tax (IRES): tax unit regimes and consolidated tax returns 

Italy has two different tax unit regimes in force, allowing groups of companies to 
file consolidated tax returns: 

▪ Italian resident companies can make an election for domestic consolidation: 
any Italian resident subsidiary can enter the national tax unit regime by making 
an election together with its (direct or indirect) parent company. When more 
than one subsidiary make the election, there can only be one consolidating 
parent company and multiple consolidated subsidiaries. The election allows 
the parent company to assess and pay taxes on a consolidated taxable base, 
filing consolidated tax returns, and benefitting from certain tax benefits, i.e., 
mainly, the possibility to (i) immediately offset a company’s NOL with other 
companies’ profits (ii) to benefit from a higher deduction threshold for 
interest expenses (see par. 3.2.2) and (iii) immediately use any outstanding 
Interest or ACE Carryforwards to offset the consolidated taxable base (see 
par. 3.2.3). 

▪ Starting from FY 2016 the election above could be made also by (i) Italian 
associated companies controlled by a common EU/EEA parent; and (ii) 
Italian permanent establishments of different EU/EEA companies under 
common control, even though the ultimate parent is not a resident of Italy or 
does not directly own a PE in the country. A few other Italian resident 
persons (e.g., resident listed companies) can also make an election for 
worldwide consolidation: for the regime to be effective, all non-resident 
subsidiaries must exercise the option to enter the regime together with the 
Italian (direct or indirect) parent company. When the regime is in force, the 
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parent company shall assess and pay taxes on a consolidated taxable base and 
file consolidated tax returns (also taking into account any applicable FTCs on 
taxes paid by foreign subsidiaries). 

2.3.4 Regional Business Tax (IRAP) 

According to Article 3, par. 1, lett. b), IRAP Decree, Corporate Taxpayers are also 
subject to IRAP on the so-called “net value of production”, determined as the 
difference between total revenues and costs of production, without taking into 
account: 

▪ employee costs and similar costs (excluding the permanent personnel costs);  
▪ any interest payable accrued;  
▪ bad debt expenses. 

The standard rate for IRAP purposes is 3.9%, but Italian Regions can choose to 
increase or decrease said rate by 0.92%. 

 

2.4 Indirect taxation: Value Added Tax (VAT) 
Italy, as Member of the EU, is part of the EU common system of value added tax. 
Particularly, “the principle of the common system of VAT entails the application to goods and 
services of a general tax on consumption exactly proportional to the price of the goods and services, 
however many transactions take place in the production and distribution process before the stage at 
which the tax is charged. On each transaction, VAT, calculated on the price of the goods or 
services at the rate applicable to such goods or services, shall be chargeable (so-called “Output 
VAT”) after deduction of the amount of VAT borne directly by the various cost components (so-
called “Input VAT”)” (Article 1, VAT Directive). 

2.4.1 Taxable transactions and territorial scope 

In general, VAT is due on any supply of goods and/or services on Italian territory. 
Also, any importation of goods from non-EU countries is subject to VAT. 

A special regime applies to Intra-Community transactions, i.e. transactions with 
other Member States, allowing VAT to be levied in the country: 

(i) where the goods are dispatched or transported to the person acquiring them; 
(ii) where the person acquiring the services has established his business (for 

supplies to taxable persons); and 
(iii) where the supplier has established his business (for supplies to non-taxable 

persons). 

2.4.2 Taxable persons 

Any person who, independently, carries out in any place any economic activity, 
whatever the purpose or results of that activity, is a taxable person for VAT 
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purposes (Article 9, VAT Directive). As a consequence, both Partnerships and 
Limited Companies are taxable persons for VAT purposes. 

2.4.3 Applicable rates 

The applicable rates follow: 

▪ standard rate: 22%; 
▪ reduced rates: 10% and 4% in certain cases. 

In line with the provisions of the EU Directive on VAT, Article 10, VAT Decree 
contains a list of transactions that are exempted from VAT (e.g., financial 
transactions, medical care, etc.).  

 

2.5 Indirect taxation: real estate taxes 
2.5.1 Municipal tax on real property (IMU) 

A municipal tax (IMU) is levied on the possession of real property (buildings, 
development land, rural land) in Italy. 

The taxable base is the notional cadastral income value attributed by the Official 
Register of Land and Property (so-called “Catasto”), increased by 5% and 
multiplied by a specific coefficient, depending on property type (residential or 
business property, development land and rural land). 

Depending on the municipality, the tax rates range from 0.40% to 1.06% of the 
value of the buildings and land calculated as previously described. IMU is only 
deductible up to 20% for income tax purposes (IRPEF or IRES) and is non-
deductible for IRAP purposes. 

2.5.2 Local service tax (TASI) 

TASI is a local service tax having the same taxable base of IMU. It can range 
between 0 and 3.3%. The combined rate of IMU and TASI, however, cannot 
exceed 1.14%. 

TASI is deductible for IRES, IRPEF and IRAP purposes. 

 

2.6 Indirect taxation: transfer taxes 
2.6.1 Registry Tax, Inheritance and Gift taxes 

Registry tax is an indirect tax on wealth transfers due upon registration of public or 
private deeds. Registration is sometimes mandatory (e.g., deeds certified by a 
notary, leases, etc.) and sometimes when a so-called “case of use” of the act or deed 
occurs, i.e. when the parties involved desire to give certainty to the provisions 
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therein contained. Registry tax may be levied in a fixed amount (generally, € 200) 
or at a proportional rate to be calculated on the value of the goods/rights that are 
the object of the deed. Whenever a transaction is subject to both VAT and registry 
tax, the latter generally applies in fixed amount (€ 200). 

Inheritance and Gift taxes, instead affect wealth transfers that occur without an 
equivalent consideration in return. Gift and inheritance taxes apply at proportional 
rates. 

2.6.2 Financial Transactions Tax 

Italy levies financial transaction tax on qualified equity transactions of up to 0.2% 
of the value of the trade. Financial Transaction Tax on derivatives of qualified 
equity transactions went into effect on September 1, 2013. The regulation is to 
apply the tax on the net balance of purchase and sale transactions executed same 
day on the same financial instrument by the same person/entity. 

 

2.7 Customs 
Since January 1st, 1993, the EU has been a single market. Therefore, no customs 
barriers exist between EU countries, ensuring the free circulation of goods within 
EU territory. 

Whenever an import of goods across the external borders of the EU occurs, 
however, customs duties are levied and calculated “ad valorem” on the so-called 
“Cost, Insurance and Freight value” of the imported goods, according to the 
principles set by the Common Customs Tariff. The Cost, Insurance and Freight 
value is the price paid for the goods plus costs of transportation, loading, 
unloading, handling, insurance, and other associated costs incidental to the delivery 
of the goods from the port or place of export to the port or place of import in the 
country of destination. Customs duties apply at different rates, depending on the 
kind of goods imported and their country of origin. 

An export of goods from Italy occurs when the country of destination of the 
goods is not an EU country. Customs duties are generally not applied to the export 
of goods from the EU. However, customs duties may be levied by the country of 
destination, according to its own customs regulations. 

 

2.8 Provisions on non-operating companies 
Non-operating companies (also “dummy companies”) are particular company 
types that are only instrumental for the mere exploitation of goods. Such 
companies are generally subject to a revenues test: the amount of total revenues is 
compared to the amount of estimated revenues (calculated according to the 
amount and value of some of the assets recorded in its balance sheet). If the 
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An export of goods from Italy occurs when the country of destination of the 
goods is not an EU country. Customs duties are generally not applied to the export 
of goods from the EU. However, customs duties may be levied by the country of 
destination, according to its own customs regulations. 

 

2.8 Provisions on non-operating companies 
Non-operating companies (also “dummy companies”) are particular company 
types that are only instrumental for the mere exploitation of goods. Such 
companies are generally subject to a revenues test: the amount of total revenues is 
compared to the amount of estimated revenues (calculated according to the 
amount and value of some of the assets recorded in its balance sheet). If the 
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former amount is lower than the latter, the company fails the revenues test and is, 
thus, deemed to be a dummy company. As a consequence, a minimum level of 
taxable income is assessed and a certain set of limitations applies (e.g., limitation to 
using VAT tax credits). 

The provisions on non-operating companies also apply to companies that: 

▪ post tax losses (NOLs) for five consecutive years, or 
▪ (i) post NOLs for four years and (ii) whose taxable income was lower than 

that determined according to dummy company rules for one year, during the 
past five FYs. 

 

2.9 Tax audits and litigations 
2.9.1 Tax audits 

In general, taxpayers have to file tax returns on a yearly basis for income tax, 
IRAP, VAT and withholding tax purposes. 

The T.A. generally subjects such returns to automatic or formal controls on their 
accuracy and on the existence of the supporting documents. 

Other than that, the T.A. also has the power to perform a tax audit on a taxpayer 
(without previously notifying him) by also accessing the company premises and 
asking to examine specific documentation. 

At the end of the audit, the T.A. issues a report, which could either come out 
“clean” or “not clean”. In this latter circumstance, the T.A. informs the taxpayers 
of any violations or failures to comply with applicable tax provisions and generally 
quantifies the amount of tax due as a consequence. Following that, normally, the 
T.A. notifies the taxpayer with a notice of assessment, following which he has two 
choices: either pay all taxes assessed plus penalties or appeal to a Tax Court. 

In general, if the taxpayer pays all without appealing, a discount on penalties may 
apply. The taxpayer also has the chance to discuss his situation with the T.A., in 
order to try to reach an agreement on overall taxes and penalties due. Specific 
penalty reductions apply in this case, too. 

Other provisions have recently been introduced in order to allow the taxpayer to 
correct his violations and failures, with a substantial discount on penalties. 

2.9.1.1 Prescription period (also known as “Statute of Limitations” provisions) 

According to the provisions of Article 43, par. 1, DPR 600/1973, the deadline for 
the T.A. to serve a taxpayer with a notice of assessment is set for December 31st of 
the  fifth fiscal year following that of filing of the relevant tax returns. Failure to 
issue the notice of assessment within said time limit triggers an institution called 
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“prescription”, which precludes the T.A. from exercising its powers of assessment 
any further. 

2.9.1.2 Abuse of law and anti-avoidance rules  

The T.A. has the power to assess failure to comply with Italian tax law provisions 
in order to tackle tax evasion. 

The recent Legislative Decree no. 128/2015 introduced a legal definition of “Abuse 
of law” on which bases a transaction lacking of economic substance that, although 
formally compliant with tax regulation, is aimed at obtaining undue tax advantages, 
may be challenged by T.A. 

In particular, the aforesaid legal definition specifies that: 

- a transaction is considered to be abusive when it is unable to produce effects 
other than tax advantages; accordingly, 

- a transaction is not considered to be abusive when it is justified by valid 
economic reason, if not marginal; 

- the undue tax advantages are identified in the obtainment of benefit, although 
not immediate, achieved in contrast with the purpose of tax rules or with the 
principles of national tax regulation. 

The “Abuse of law” can be challenged only if tax benefits cannot be assesses 
through other specific tax provisions.  

The T.A., following a proper discussion with the taxpayer, has the burden to prove 
the abusive behaviour. 

2.9.2 Tax litigations – general aspects 

If the taxpayer chooses to challenge the decisions by the T.A., it can do so by 
appealing to the system of Italian Tax Courts, which is made up of the following: 

▪ Provincial Tax Court (a first-tier tax court); 

▪ Regional Tax Court (a second-tier tax court); 

▪ Supreme Court (last level of judgment). 

▪

▪

▪
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3. ENTRY PHASE 
Introduction 
Investors deciding to enter the Italian market by owning a subsidiary should 
choose the appropriate company type (see Chapter 1) according to their needs. 
This implies a pre-emptive evaluation of the main related aspects, for example: 

▪ the degree of personal liability (Limited Companies are generally most 
appealing since they imply a general limitation of the investor’s liability); 

▪ the number of co-investors (if any) involved or the intention of partnering up 
with a local (as shown in Chapter 1, the existence of a single investor with no 
interest of sharing ownership of a subsidiary should rule out the possibility of 
a “partnership” scheme); 

▪ the models of corporate governance required (a “slimmer” and more flexible 
governance structure, such as that of an S.r.l., or a more regulated one, with a 
higher degree of internal controls and standardised procedures, as is generally 
the case for an S.p.A.). 

When making all necessary evaluations, investors should also consider tax 
implications of owning a subsidiary. This means both taking into account the cost 
of any taxes that will most likely apply (according to the principles outlined in 
Chapter 2) in order to structure the investment efficiently from a tax standpoint, 
and assessing any opportunities the tax system might grant to qualified 
investments. 

Chapter Structure 
This paragraph aims at addressing the above issues, and will, thus, be structured as 
follows: 

▪ providing a general overview on the most relevant tax incentives, grants, 
reliefs or tax credits available to foreign investors when investing in an Italian 
subsidiary (“Opportunities for Investors”); and 

▪ making investors aware of the most relevant tax consequences related to 
choice of resources used for funding the operations of their subsidiary, so as 
to help them structure their investment in a way that is both economically 
viable and also tax efficient (“Investment Funding”). 
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3.1 Opportunities for investors 
3.1.1 Super-depreciation  

The Budget Law for FY 2017 extended up to December 31st, 2017 the possibility 
to benefit of the so-called “super-deprecation” provision for investments in new 
tangible assets. The provision states that the purchase cost for investments in new 
tangible assets (or acquired through a financial lease) is notionally increased by 
40% (i.e. bringing the taxable base to 140%) for the determination of tax 
depreciation for IRES purposes. 

The benefit is also applicable to investments made by June 30th, 2018, provided 
that the relevant purchase order has been accepted by the seller and at least 20% of 
the purchase cost has been paid by December 31st, 2017. 

The accelerated depreciation does not apply to: (i) real estate assets; (ii) tangible 
assets that are subject to a depreciation rate lower than 6.5%; (iii) certain assets 
specifically listed in annex 3 to L. 208/2015 (e.g. pipes for transportation of natural 
gas, airplanes and train cars); and (iv) investments in cars and other transportation 
vehicles. 

The super-depreciation is relevant only for tax depreciation purposes and it 
therefore does not affect the company’s P&L, nor does it affect the calculation of 
gains and losses for tax purposes. 

3.1.2 Iper-depreciation 

To encourage the technological transformation and digitalization processes, the 
“iper-depreciation” provision has been introduced.  

For new assets acquired for the technological transformation of enterprises relating 
to plant, equipment and machinery whose operations are digitally controlled 
and/or operated by smart sensors and drives interconnected with a factory’s 
computer systems (e.g. investments in hi-tech, cloud, ultra-broad band, industrial 
robotics, digital manufacturing, IT security, etc has been introduced a notional 
increase of 150% (i.e. bringing the taxable base to 250%) for the determination of 
tax depreciation for IRES purposes.  

.), it 

The benefit applies to eligible investments made from January 1st, 2017 to 
December 31st, 2017 or by June 30th, 2018, provided that the purchase order has 
been accepted by the seller and at least 20% of the purchase cost has been paid by 
December 31st, 2017. 

For the above-mentioned entities, it is also possible a notional increase of 40% of 
purchase cost of intangible assets (e.g. software, systems, platforms and 
applications connected to hi-tech investments, etc.) 

Depending on a defined threshold, it is necessary to provide specific supporting 
documentation to benefit for the provision at hand (i) a statutory declaration 
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issued by the legal representative for the assets lower than   500,000; or (ii) a 
sworn appraisal by professional for the assets higher more than    500,000. 

3.1.3 R&D Tax Credits 

A tax credit is granted to Italian companies carrying out R&D activities, whose 
annual R&D expenditures add up to at least € 30,000. 

Besides general costs incurred for R&D activities, allowable expenditures also 
include the following: 

(i) Employee costs referring to personnel employed in R&D activities; 
(ii) Depreciation of instruments and laboratory equipment, for no less than 

 €   2,000 per asset;
(iii) R&D costs related to agreements with universities and other equivalent 

research facilities; 
(iv) Technical know-how and industrial property rights with reference to industrial 

or biotechnological inventions, microelectronic semiconductor product 
typographies, new plant varieties, including those acquired by third parties. 

The benefits of the tax credit will apply at a rate of 50% on incremental R&D 
expenditures higher than the yearly average of the qualifying R&D expenditures 
that the enterprise has incurred in the three FYs prior to 2015. Newly incorporated 
companies and newly established partnerships, thus, can benefit from the credit on 
the overall amount of their expenditures during the fiscal year. The credit can only 
be claimed up to a maximum annual amount of €/MIO 20 and can be used to 
offset other company tax liabilities from the following fiscal year. 

As from January 1st, 2017, the R&D tax credit also may apply to resident 
companies and Italian PEs of non-resident companies that carry out R&D 
activities through contracts with entities that are resident for tax purposes in 
EU/EEA countries or in other countries and territories that allow an adequate 
exchange of information with Italy. 

3.1.4 Patent Box regime 

Starting from FY 2015, Italy has introduced its very own “Patent Box regime”, i.e. 
a regime – similar to those currently in force in other EU countries (e.g. Belgium, 
France, UK, Luxembourg, Netherlands, Portugal, Spain) – providing a tax 
preference on income relating to intangible property, with the aim of: 

▪ providing an incentive for Italian and foreign companies to transfer their own 
IP assets (currently held abroad) to Italy; 

▪ providing an incentive for companies to keep their own IP assets in Italy (so 
as to avoid their relocation abroad); 

▪ encouraging R&D investments in Italy. 

€

€

€
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Companies (both Partnerships and Limited Companies) entering the regime shall 
benefit from a partial exemption from income taxes on business income deriving 
from the exploitation of patents, copyrights, designs and models and, in a first 
stage of the regime, trademarks as well.   

However, since OECD has stated that marketing intangibles (such as trademarks) cannot   
qualify for IP regimes, the Italian Patent Box is currently not compliant with 
OECD recommendations outlined in its “BEPS Action 5”. Consequently, the 
possibility to include trademarks within the scope of eligible intangible assets for 
the Patent Box regime purposes has been granted until 30th

In line with OECD principles on the matter, the benefits of the regime are 
conditional on the company carrying out substantial R&D activities. Therefore, the 
income receiving the benefits shall be assessed as the ratio between qualifying 
R&D expenditures and overall expenditures incurred to develop the IP asset. The 
tax benefits of the regime shall consist in a 50% (30% for FY 2015, 40% for FY 
2016) exemption from tax on income arising from the IP assets (calculated 
according to the above criteria). As a result – for Corporate Taxpayers – the 
applicable corporate tax rate on income from an IP asset will decrease from a 
nominal 24% to an actual 12%. 

3.1.5 Innovative Start-up companies and SMEs 

The regime for Innovative Start-up companies was introduced in 2012 in order to 
provide an incentive to investment in newly incorporated companies, whose main 
business generally consists in creating goods or services of intrinsic high 
technological value. 

The regime provides for a set of advantages and incentives, ranging from a more 
appealing legislation in terms of corporate law and a certain number of tax 
benefits. In order to enter the regime in hand, the following conditions generally 
apply: 

§ the company is an EU/EEA tax resident; 
§ total revenues may not be higher than €/MIO 5 (as resulting from its last 

financial statements); 
§ it may not distribute dividends; 
§ its main business shall consists in the development, production and trade of 

products or services of intrinsic high technological value; 
§ it has one or more of the following features: 

(1) more than 15% of (the higher between) total costs or revenues shall be 
R&D expenses; 

(2) at least a third of the workforce shall consist of highly qualified 
employees (PhDs, researchers, etc.); 

(3) it is the owner or licensee of particular industrial property right(s) (e.g., a 
right on an industrial or biological invention, a new plant variety, a new 
software, etc.). 
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Entry into the regime occurs by registering with the “Registrar of Companies”, 
which shall keep a special section dedicated to Innovative Start-up companies. The 
regime shall apply for maximum of five years after company incorporation. 

The regime for “Innovative SMEs” (recently introduced) applies to already existing 
small- and medium-sized enterprises that have similar requirements to those of 
Innovative Start-up companies. 

3.1.5.1 Special corporate provisions 

Among others, the following special provisions apply to an Innovative Start-up 
company: 

▪ if it is incorporated as a Limited Liability Company, it can derogate from the 
standard corporate law provisions and have members with no or non-
proportional voting rights; 

▪ it can post accounting losses for amounts that exceed a third of its capital, 
without having to immediately cover them (for example, with new capital 
contributions); 

▪ it can issue Equity-like instruments; 
▪ it can access crowdfunding platforms and portals for the purpose of raising 

capital; 
▪ it is subject to a special, simplified insolvency procedure. 

Except for the last one, such provisions also generally apply to Innovative SMEs. 

3.1.5.2 Special tax benefits for Innovative Start-up companies and Innovative SMEs 

Innovative Start-up companies and, to some extent, Innovative SMEs, can 
generally benefit from the following: 

▪ they are not subject to dummy company rules (see par. 2.8); 
▪ they are exempt from registration fees with the Registrar of Companies and 

other duties that generally apply upon registration; 
▪ they benefit from a specific tax credit for employment of highly qualified 

personnel; 
▪ their directors and employees are generally not taxable on income deriving 

from the attribution of financial instruments or stock options; 
▪ supply of work or professional services in exchange for equity instruments of 

the Start-up company or SME is not taxable for the supplier upon attribution; 
▪ starting from FY 2017, a person (individual or corporate taxpayers) investing 

in an Innovative Start-up company or Innovative SME is granted an 
allowance of: (i) 30% of the invested capital for individual income tax (i.e. 
IRPEF) and corporate tax (i.e. IRES) purposes. The allowance shall be 
calculated on a maximum investment of €/MIO 1 (for individuals) and 
€/MIO 1.8 (for corporate taxpayers) and is conditional upon the investor 
keeping his interest/shareholding for at least three years. 
 

  45Doing business in Italy - A guide for foreign investors



 

 Doing business in Italy – A guide for foreign investors   47 
 

3.1.6 Migration of a foreign company to Italy 

Article 12 of the Internationalization Decree introduced in the ITC the article 166-
bis which rules the migration of a foreign company to Italy. The mentioned tax rule 
states that in the event of migration to Italy from a Whitelisted country of a 
company which carriers out a business activity, the initial tax values of the assets 
and liabilities of the migrating company shall be equal to their market value at the 
time of transfer, regardless of them being subject to an exit tax in their country of 
origin. The market value should be determined according to the provisions stated 
by article 9 of ITC. 

This rule shall not apply to (i) assets and liabilities pertaining to an Italian PE of the 
company (since they already have a value for Italian tax purposes) and (ii) 
companies whose country of origin is not cooperative for the purpose of effective 
information exchanges. In the latter case, the market value criterion can only be 
adopted following a specific ruling procedure. Otherwise, the tax value of the 
assets transferred is assumed, in an amount equal to the lower between (i) the 
acquisition cost, (ii) the book value and (iii) the market value determined in 
accordance with article 9 of ITC, while for liabilities is assumed an amount equal to 
the greater of these ones. 

 

3.2 Investment funding 
Investors may fund a company’s operations using either debt (e.g., shareholders’ or 
members’ loans, bank loans, issue of corporate bonds or debt-like instruments, etc.) 
or equity capital (e.g., paying in capital contributions for shares and equity-like 
instruments, etc.). 

Using equity or debt capital has different implications in terms of taxation both for 
the company paying the returns (i.e. dividends and interest) and for its investors. 
This paragraph will focus on taxation consequences for the company paying 
dividends or interest. 

3.2.1 Dividend payments 

Dividend payments are generally non-deductible from taxable income. More in 
detail, any type of remuneration paid to holders of financial instruments, which is 
directly or indirectly proportional to company profits or related to the outcome of 
a special venture, shall not be deductible for income tax purposes (Article 109, par. 
9, lett. b, ITC). 

3.2.2 Interest payments 

Interest payments, on the other hand, are generally deductible from taxable 
income. However, it should be noted that, for Corporate Taxpayers, deduction of 
interest expenses is subject to a thin capitalisation test (Article 96, ITC). This test 
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replaced the former thin capitalisation rules (which were generally based on 
parameters like the company’s debt-to-equity ratio and the fact that the person 
providing the loan was a qualified shareholder or member). 

Particularly, interest is deductible up to the amount of (i) taxable interest revenues 
and (ii) 30% of the so-called “Gross Operating Income”, i.e. the difference 
between total revenues (including dividends received from non-resident 
subsidiaries in which the Italian resident company holds more than 50% of the 
votes that may be exercised in the ordinary shareholders’ meeting of the subsidiary)  
and operating costs (i.e. cost of goods sold, general expenses, etc.), disregarding 
depreciation, amortisation and rental payments from financial leases. 

The amount of exceeding interest expenses is non-deductible and shall, thus, be 
carried forward to future fiscal years (so-called “Interest Carryforwards”). 

3.2.2.1 Shareholder or member loans 

As already mentioned in par. 1.2.6 and par. 1.2.10, shareholders and members may 
choose to grant their company a loan in order to fund its operations. In particular, 
interest expenses arising from an interest-bearing shareholder or member loan are 
still subject to the above-mentioned thin capitalisation test. Moreover, if the 
investor providing the facilities is a non-resident person, interest shall generally be 
charged at a rate equal to an arm’s length rate of interest with respect to such loan, 
in compliance with general rules on transfer pricing (see par. 2.3.2). 

3.2.3 Allowance for Corporate Equity (“ACE”) 

The so-called “ACE” (Allowance for Corporate Equity) or “NID” (Notional 
Interest Deduction) is an incentive to reduce the disadvantages of funding using 
equity (which results in non-deductible dividend payments) instead of debt capital 
(which generally results in deductible interest payments – within the limits set in 
par. 3.2.2). 

ACE consists in a notional deduction to be calculated on equity increases arising 
from (i) cash contributions and (ii) retained earnings. On the other hand, any 
equity decrease (e.g., dividend distribution or capital repayment) shall reduce the 
applicable NID base. 

The applicable deduction from taxable income shall be calculated by multiplying 
the NID base by the NID rate (4.75% in 2016 and 2,3% from 2017 onwards). Any 
time said deduction is higher than the company’s taxable profits, any exceeding 
NID shall be carried forward for use in future fiscal years (so-called “ACE Carry 
forwards”). Specific anti-avoidance rules apply in some cases (mostly, with 
reference to intra-group transactions) in order to counter the risk of multiple 
deductions. 
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4. INVESTMENT PERIOD 
Introduction 
Foreign investors setting up a subsidiary in Italy are generally interested in 
obtaining a return from their investment. The returns will most likely take the form 
of dividend distributions, interest payments or of a combination of both, 
depending on the type of instrument the investor chose in order to fund the 
company. This chapter aims at summarising the main taxes investors are subject to 
when they receive a return. 

Chapter Structure 
This chapter is structured as follows: 

▪ Dividends (Paragraph 4.1); 

▪ Interest (  4.2). Paragraph
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4.1 Dividends 
A dividend payment is generally regarded as a distribution of company profits 
arising from the participation of an investor to the capital or equity of that 
company. According to the ITC, any instrument awarding investors with returns 
that are entirely dependent on the amount of company profits and/or on the 
outcome of a specific venture, are regarded as “Equity-like” for tax purposes. Any 
instrument containing this provision, is automatically considered an Equity-like 
instrument, and, thus, its returns are taxed as dividend distributions. 

4.1.1 Dividend taxation 

According to Article 23, par. 1, let. b), ITC, dividends paid to non-resident 
investors are considered as sourced (and, thus, taxable) in Italy. 

According to Article 27, par. 3, DPR 600/73, dividends paid to non-resident 
persons are subject to 26% withholding tax. Such investors may also be entitled to 
a partial refund of such withholding (up to eleven twenty-sixths of the tax paid, so 
as to make the actual rate equal to 11%), if they can prove they actually paid taxes 
on such dividends in their country of residence. 

Alternatively, a foreign investor may also request that the more favourable rates for 
dividend taxation provided within the Double Tax Treaty between Italy and his 
country of residence be applied. 

4.1.2 EU corporate investors 

Dividends paid to EU (and EEA) resident Corporate Taxpayers are only subject to 
withholding tax at a rate of 1.2%. 

However, dividends paid by Italian subsidiaries to their EU-parent companies may 
also benefit from a total exemption from withholding taxes, according to the 
principles set by the EU Parent Subsidiary Directive (Directive 2006/112/EC). 
The exemption only applies if: 

▪ both companies take one of the forms listed in Annex I, Part. A of the 
Directive; 

▪ one company is considered to be a resident of Italy, and the other to be 
resident in another Member State for tax purposes; 

▪ both companies are subject to one of the taxes listed in Annex I, Part B of the 
Directive; 

▪ the parent has a minimum holding of 10% in the capital of the subsidiary, that 
has been maintained for an uninterrupted period of at least 12 months; 

▪ the parent is able to prove that it is not a mere conduit company, i.e. has its 
holding in the Italian parent for the sole purpose of receiving the tax benefits 
of the Directive. 
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4. INVESTMENT PERIOD 
Introduction 
Foreign investors setting up a subsidiary in Italy are generally interested in 
obtaining a return from their investment. The returns will most likely take the form 
of dividend distributions, interest payments or of a combination of both, 
depending on the type of instrument the investor chose in order to fund the 
company. This chapter aims at summarising the main taxes investors are subject to 
when they receive a return. 

Chapter Structure 
This chapter is structured as follows: 

▪ Dividends (Paragraph 4.1); 

▪ Interest (  4.2). Paragraph
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4.2 Interest 
4.2.1 Definition of Interest 

Interest is defined as the investment return of loans and of corporate bonds or 
other similar instruments, that are not regarded as “Equity-like Instruments” for 
tax purposes. In particular, such instruments contain the unconditional obligation 
to pay back capital to their holders, who, in turn, are not awarded with any kind of 
participation or voting rights. 

4.2.2 Interest taxation 

According to Article 23, par. 1, let. b), ITC, interest paid to non-resident investors 
is considered as sourced (and, thus, taxable) in Italy. 

In general, Italian-sourced interest paid to non-residents is subject to 26% 
withholding tax. However, interest paid by banks and listed companies in general 
may qualify for exemption if the recipient is a resident of a Whitelisted country 
(this generally applies if the securities are dematerialised and deposited with a 
resident financial institution). 

Foreign investors may also request that the more favourable rates for interest 
taxation provided within the Double Tax Treaty between Italy and his country of 
residence be applied. 

4.2.3 Interest-Royalties Directive 

According to the principles set by the “Interest and Royalties Directive” 
(2003/49/EC) – implemented by Article 26-quater, DPR 600/73 – Italian-sourced 
interest payments are exempt from any Italian if the following conditions are 
jointly met:  

▪ both companies take one of the forms listed in the Annex of the Directive; 
▪ one company is considered to be a resident of Italy, and the other to be 

resident in another Member State for tax purposes; 
▪ both companies are subject to corporate taxes (as listed in the Directive); 
▪ the parent has a minimum holding of 25% in the capital of the subsidiary, that 

has been maintained for an uninterrupted period of at least 12 months; 
▪ the parent is able to prove that it is not a mere conduit company, i.e. has its 

holding in the Italian parent for the sole purpose of receiving the tax benefits 
of the Directive. 
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5. EXIT PHASE 
Introduction 
There are many business reasons that could motivate foreign investors owning a 
subsidiary in Italy to either divest or to change their degree of physical presence in 
the country. For example, the choice to divest may be motivated by their intention 
of leaving the Italian market for good, or rather to reorganise their operations and 
strategy, acting directly from another jurisdiction, without further need for a 
separate legal entity in the country. 

Chapter Structure 
The decision to exit an investment can be implemented through a certain number 
of transactions, each having its own set of tax consequences for the foreign 
investor. 

Purpose of this chapter is to briefly outline: 

▪ the divestment transactions available to foreign investors and their tax 
consequences (Paragraph 5.1); 

▪ the ways in which the investor could still have a relevant presence in the 
country, after divesting, even without owning a subsidiary. This latter part of 
the chapter will be structured so as to provide an introduction to the 
following Part of this paper, which will focus on Permanent Establishments 
and Representative Offices ( 5.2). Paragraph 
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5.1 Divestment 

Divestment can mainly occur as a consequence of the following transactions: 

§ Disposal of the interest or shareholding in the subsidiary; 
§ Liquidation; 
§ Company Migration; 
§ Cross-border Merger. 

5.1.1 Disposal of the interest or shareholding in the subsidiary 

The sale of an interest or shareholding in an Italian company might trigger taxation 
on any capital gains arising from the disposal. In particular, for the purpose of this 
paragraph, we shall suppose that the investor has no Permanent Establishment in 
Italy after the sale. 

Taxation of capital gains in Italy only occurs according to the principles set within 
Article 23, par. 1, lett. f), ITC for non-resident investors. More in detail: 

§ Gains from a disposal of a so-called “Non-Qualifying Participation” in a listed 
Italian company are non-taxable in Italy; 

§ Gains from a disposal of a Non-Qualifying Participation (other than the 
above) shall not be taxable in Italy on condition that the investor is a resident 
of a Whitelisted country; 

§ Gains from disposals that do not fulfil the criteria above are generally taxable 
in Italy. 

Broadly speaking, according to the ITC, Qualifying Participation shall mean the 
ownership of 25% or more of the capital or 20% or more of the voting rights of a 
company by an investor. For listed companies, such percentages shall be lower, i.e. 
5% and 2%, respectively. A Non-Qualifying Participation shall, thus, mean any 
interest or shareholding that is not a Qualifying Participation. 

Therefore, among others, disposal of a so-called “Qualifying Participation” by a 
non-resident generally triggers capital gains tax in Italy, according to domestic 
rules. Investors, however, may benefit from a more favourable tax treatment 
according to the existing double-taxation treaty between Italy and their country of 
residence.  

5.1.2 Company liquidation 

Liquidation of an Italian subsidiary implies the winding-up and dissolution of the 
company and attribution of all its assets and liabilities to its foreign investors. 

As a consequence, this might trigger: 

(i) “Exit Tax” on company assets, i.e. capital gains taxation on the difference 
between the real values of the assets and liabilities transferred to the investor 
and their values for tax purposes; 
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(ii) Taxation on the investor receiving the assets on any gains accruing on the 
cancellation of their holding in the subsidiary. Such gains shall be taxable as 
(a) dividend distributions (taxed according to the principles set within par. 
4.1) and (b) capital gains (taxed according to the principles set within 
paragraph 5.1.1). 

5.1.3 Company Migration 

According to the Italian corporate law, a company may transfer its legal seat to 
another country, without undergoing liquidation. According to Italian Tax law, if 
the company also changes (i) its place of effective management and (ii) its main 
business to another country, it shall be deemed “non-resident” for tax purposes. 

Broadly speaking (i) company Migration may trigger Exit Tax on the arms’ length 
value of the company assets; (ii) the mentioned Exit Tax is not due if the 
company’s assets are transferred to a permanent establishment resident of Italy; 
(iii) the Company migration shall generally have no other consequences for the 
non-resident investor in Italy. 

Article 11 of Internationalization Decree introduced an optional regime which 
provides for a deferral on Exit Tax if the migrating company will move to a foreign 
EU/EEA country considered as cooperative for the purpose of effective 
information exchanges, in compliance with the principles set by ECJ judgment on 
Case 371-10 (November 29th, 2011) – “National Grid Indus BV”. The tax deferral 
is postponed to the date of disposal of the assets received by the foreign company 
from the Italian legal entity. In the event that the foreign company will not sell the 
assets received, the Exit Tax will be in any cases due within the limit of 10 years 
from the end of last fiscal year of residence in Italy.  

5.1.4 Cross-border Merger 

A cross-border merger is a transaction by which a company, on being dissolved 
without going into liquidation, transfers all its assets and liabilities to the company 
holding all the securities representing its capital. 

Such transactions are generally tax-neutral, if they occur with another EU 
company, according to the principles set within Council Directive no. 
2009/133/EC. However, Exit Taxes may still apply on transferred company assets. 

In this respect, please note the previously mentioned article 11 of 
Internationalization Decree should extend the application of the optional regime 
which provides for a deferral on Exit Tax also in case of (i) transfers of going 
concerns to another EU/EEA country and (ii) transfers of assets following 
mergers, demerger and going concern contributions concerning companies of 
different EU Member States. 
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5.2 Taxable presence in Italy 
The above-mentioned transactions may result in the investor leaving the country 
for good. It should, however, be noted that in some cases a physical presence 
might still remain in Italy, even after such transactions have been implemented. 

This paragraph shall briefly outline the tax consequences of some of the above 
transactions, in cases where the foreign investor has a Permanent Establishment 
(as defined in Part II) in Italy. 

5.2.1 Disposal of the interest or shareholding 

As already explained in par. 5.1.1, a disposal of an interest or shareholding in an 
Italian subsidiary might trigger capital gains taxation for the disposing investor. 
However, if the investor has a Permanent Establishment in Italy, the gains shall be 
attributable to said Permanent Establishment and taxed according to the principles 
set within Part II of this work. 

5.2.2 Other transactions 

As already mentioned in par. 5.1.3 and 5.1.4, Company Migrations and Cross-
border Mergers may trigger Exit Taxes on the assets transferred to another 
country. 

This rule, however, does not apply if the assets are deemed “effectively connected” 
to a Permanent Establishment of the foreign investor in Italy. Therefore, such 
transactions shall be tax-neutral for the foreign investor, who still intends to have a 
physical presence in the country in the form of a (taxable) Permanent 
Establishment. 
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 PART II 
 PERMANENT ESTABLISHMENTS 
 AND REPRESENTATIVE OFFICES 
 

Overview 
Entry into the Italian market may be a step-by-step process, which doesn’t 
necessarily require the foreign investor to immediately set up a subsidiary in the 
country, but rather an organisation that allows him to carry on his business without 
being a separate legal entity. According to the relevance of his presence, a foreign 
investor may have a Permanent Establishment in Italy or, simply, have a 
Representative Office. 

 

Structure 
This Part is divided into the following chapters: 

▪ Definitions and regulatory background (Chapter 1); 

▪ Main Taxes (Chapter 2); 

▪ Entry Phase, Taxation of investment returns and Exit Phase (Chapter 3). 
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1. DEFINITIONS AND REGULATORY 
BACKGROUND 
Overview 
Having a Permanent Establishment (“PE”) or a Representative Office (“RP”) in 
Italy has different consequences from a tax perspective. In general, PEs are taxable 
persons for income tax purposes, since they actually carry on a business in the 
country, whereas RPs are generally not used for “actual” business, but rather 
represent a “cost-centre” for the business of the company, carrying out non-
transactional activities, like marketing, for example, and, thus, are not taxable 
persons. 

Chapter Structure 
This chapter is structured as follows: 

▪ Definitions (Paragraph 1.1); 

▪ Regulatory background (Paragraph 1.2)  .
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1.1 Definitions 
1.1.1 PE definition 

The definition of PE is generally compliant with that of Article 5, OECD Model 
Tax Convention on Income and on Capital, i.e. “a fixed place of business through which 
the business of an enterprise is wholly or partly carried on”. Therefore, in order to have a 
PE a non-resident investor must have a place of business, i.e. a facility such as 
premises or, in certain cases, machinery or equipment, which is established at a 
distinct place with a certain degree of permanence, carrying on the business of the 
enterprise. This includes a branch, an office or any other (physical) place of 
management, a factory, a workshop and a mine, an oil or gas well, a quarry or any 
other place of extraction of natural resources. 

In other terms, in order to configure a PE, the following conditions must occur: 

▪ the place of business must be a delimited physical space that insists on the 
territory of the Italian State, used for business by the foreign investor (Fixed 
place of business test);  

▪ the place of business may not be temporary (Permanence test); 
▪ there must be a link between the business carried on and the place of business 

(Location test); 
▪ the fixed place must be used by the non-resident enterprise in the exercise of 

its business activities, wholly or partly (Business activity test); 
▪ the place of business must be instrumental to the exercise of the non-resident 

enterprise (Business connection test). 

1.1.2 Specifically excluded places 

The following circumstances shall not give constitute a PE in Italy: 

(i) the use of facilities solely for storage, display or delivery of goods to 
customers; 

(ii) the maintenance of a stock of goods owned by the enterprise solely for (a) 
the purpose of storage, display or delivery or (b) the purpose of processing 
by another enterprise; 

(iii) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely (a) for the purpose of 
purchasing goods or of collecting information for the enterprise, (b) carrying 
on ancillary or preparatory activities; 

(iv) the maintenance of computers and related auxiliary systems that allow for the 
collection and transmission of data and information in order to sell goods 
and services. 

Finally, Action 7 of BEPS has better defined the border of certain P.E. 
definitions/requirements in order to prevent the artificial avoidance behaviour by 
multinational enterprises. 

1.1.3 Agent PE 
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Where a person is acting on behalf of an enterprise and has, and habitually 
exercises, in Italy an authority to conclude contracts (other than those for the mere 
purchase of goods) in the name of the enterprise (so-called “Dependent Agent”), 
that enterprise shall be deemed to have a so-called “Agent PE” in Italy. 

An enterprise shall not be deemed to have a PE in Italy merely because it carries 
on business through a broker, general commission agent or any other agent of an 
independent status, provided that such persons are acting in the ordinary course of 
their business. 

1.1.4 Parents, subsidiaries and sister companies 

The fact that a company which is a resident of Italy controls or is controlled by a 
foreign resident, or that both are controlled by the same non-resident parent 
company, shall not of itself constitute either company a PE of the other. 

This could, however, be the case, for example, if an employee of the non-resident 
parent is allowed to use an office in the headquarters of the resident subsidiary for 
a long period of time, in order to ensure that the subsidiary complies with its 
obligations under contracts concluded with the parent. 

1.1.5 Definition of RP 

A representative office may be an office established by a non-resident enterprise to 
conduct marketing and other non-transactional operations in Italy. Such office 
does not have the traits of a PE, since the non-resident enterprise does not 
conduct actual business through it. 

According to Italian tax law, an RP does not share a taxable presence in the 
country for either income tax or value added tax purposes. Among others, an RP 
can only carry out activities like advertising and promotion, collection of 
information, scientific or market research, etc. Thus, the RP may only carry on 
activities that might prove to be ancillary or preparatory for the non-resident 
enterprise, and may definitely not be involved in selling and production activities, 
lest losing its status and becoming a PE. It should be noted that the Italian T.A. is 
quite severe when it comes to analysing the operations carried out by an RP, so as 
to make sure that the non-resident enterprise does not have a PE in Italy. 

An RP is a mere cost centre and its director does not have any real power to decide 
or have the non-resident enterprise enter into any kind of agreements with third 
parties. 

 

1.2 Regulatory background 
1.2.1 PEs 
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In general, a PE is subject to Italian corporate law. A fixed place of business, a 
branch or an office, etc. shall all be registered with the Italian Registrar of 
Companies, shall have a tax identification number and a VAT number and shall file 
with the above Registrar the financial statements of their company. 

Having a PE in Italy implies that for the non-resident enterprise to account for 
operations carried out and assess the profit or losses of its PE separately, resorting 
to some sort of segment accounting. This is important in order to allow both 
Italian and foreign tax authorities to audit the activities carried out by the foreign 
enterprise, thus isolating those that refer to the PE.  

Internationalization Decree enacted significant changes in respect to PEs taxation. 
The Decree aligns the Italian tax rules for profit attribution to PEs with the 
Authorized OECD Approach (AOA) – set out in the “2010 Report on the 
attribution of profits to Permanent Establishments”. 

The rules have now been formalized in a revised Article 152 of the ITC, and a PE 
should be treated as a functionally separate and independent entity for the purpose 
of determining its business profits. The revised Article 152 also requires “free 
capital” (“fondo di dotazione”) to be attributed to the PE based on OECD principles. 

Furthermore, a PE is now required to prepare financial statements according to the 
accounting principles that would have been adopted by Italian resident entities 
carrying out a similar business. 

1.2.2 RPs 

On the other hand, an RP only has to keep a general ledger, in order to account for 
costs incurred by the non-resident enterprise.  

The RP shall not be registered with the Italian Registrar of Companies, apply to 
the Italian Registrar of Economic and Administrative Information. As a 
consequence, the RP will be assigned a specific tax identification number but not a 
VAT number. 
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2. MAIN TAXES 

Overview 
Permanent establishments of a foreign entity doing business in Italy are subject to 
corporate and regional taxes (IRES and IRAP) with the same rules that apply to 
companies. 

Chapter Structure 
This chapter is structured as follows: 

▪ Income tax (Paragraph 1)  2.

▪ IRAP (Paragraph 2.2) 

▪ VAT (Paragraph 2.3) 

▪ Other taxes (Paragraph 2.4) 
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2.1 Income tax 
According to Article 73, par. 1, lett. d) and Article 23, par. 1, lett. e), ITC, a foreign 
entity is subject to IRES and is only taxable on business income attributable to a 
PE. Thus, taxable income shall be determined according to the general rules 
applicable for IRES purposes and taxed at a 24% rate. 

A foreign investor, however, is also liable to tax for income sourced in Italy, even 
in the absence of a PE in the country. In this case, such income cannot be 
regarded as “business income”, but as “Income from immovable property”, 
“Dividends”, “Interest”, “Capital Gains”, etc. and taxed according to general rules. 

 

2.2 IRAP 
IRAP applies to PEs according to the general rules applicable for subsidiaries. The 
applicable rate shall be the standard rate (3.9%), plus or minus 0.92%, according to 
the Region where the PE is located. 

 

2.3 VAT 
RPs are non-taxable persons for VAT purposes, whereas PEs are taxable according 
to Article 7, VAT Decree. 

A PE for VAT purposes (i.e. a “fixed establishment”, according to EU lexicon) is 
an establishment that possesses (i) a sufficient degree of permanence and (ii) a 
structure adequate, in terms of human and technical resources necessary for (iii) 
the provision of services. 

VAT rules shall, thus, apply to a PE, similarly to subsidiaries, for all its operations. 

 

2.4 Other taxes 
Transfer taxes and real estate taxes still apply, since they do not depend on the 
status of the non-resident person, but rather on the transaction carried out (for 
transfer taxes) or on real property ownership (for real estate taxes). 

 

2.5 Branch exemption 
Internationalization Decree introduced new art. 168-ter of ITC related to the 
option for Italian companies to exempt from taxation in Italy profits and/or losses 
pertaining to all of their foreign PEs, instead of applying the worldwide taxation 
principle (subject in any case to foreign tax credit). The election for the branch 

  61Doing business in Italy - A guide for foreign investors



 

 Doing business in Italy – A guide for foreign investors   63 
 

exemption regime cannot be revoked and it is effective with reference to all foreign 
PEs (“all in/all out approach”). 

This option must be exercised at the time the branch is incorporated with effect 
from that fiscal year. Existing branches may also exercise this option. Restrictions 
are in place for PEs with pre-existing losses. 

Once the election is made, the resident company has to separately disclose the 
income of the foreign permanent establishments in its tax return. 

In case of permanent establishments benefiting from a low-tax regime (as defined 
for CFC purposes by article 167 paragraph 4 of the ITC), the election for the 
profits exemption should trigger the application of CFC rules to such permanent 
establishments. 

 

2.6 International ruling procedure 
As anticipated in par. 2.3, the Article 1 of Internationalization Decree introduced a 
new form of international ruling procedure which allows taxpayers to enter into 
advanced agreements on specific issues with the T.A.. The previous mentioned tax 
rule states that it is possible to settle a ruling regarding, inter alia, the existence of a 
Permanent Establishment (“PE”). In particular, the new international ruling may 
concern: (i) the allocation of profits and losses to a Permanent Establishment 
(“PE”) of a foreign legal entity in Italy or to a PE of an Italian legal entity in 
another State and (ii) the assessment on the existence of a PE of in Italy of a 
foreign legal entity. 

 

2.7 Determination of the “free capital” attributable to the Italian 
PE 
The “free capital” referred to the Italian PEs is determined according to the 
OECD principles considering also the functions performed, the related risks and 
the assets used to carry out a business activity. 

In this respect, the T.A. should issue a specific regulation in order to set the criteria 
to be used to determine the amount of the free capital of the Italian PEs of foreign 
legal entities. At this stage only the decree stating the criteria to determine the 
consistency and adequacy of the “free capital” of Italian PEs related to banks has 
been issued. 
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3. ENTRY PHASE, INVESTMENT PERIOD AND 
EXIT PHASE 
Overview 

Purpose of this chapter is to address the following: 

(i) the main issues for investors entering the Italian market via a Permanent 
Establishment, in terms of opportunities available and funding of the PE’s 
operations; 

(ii) the taxation of returns for the investors during the investment period; and 

(iii) the alternatives available to exit the investment. 

 

Chapter Structure 

This chapter is structured as follows: 

§ Entry phase (Paragraph 3.1); 

§ Investment period (Paragraph 3.2); 

§ Exit phase (  3.3). Paragraph
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3.1 Entry phase 
3.1.1 Opportunities for investors 

PEs of non-resident investors are generally subject to the same rules of taxation 
that apply to subsidiaries, and may benefit from the same opportunities. 

For example, a PE can generally claim most of the benefits described in par. 3.1, 
Part I, i.e. R&D tax credits and tax credits on new machinery purchases, and may 
also access the Patent Box regime. 

3.1.2 Investment funding 

The same rules for interest deduction apply to interest expenses arising from debt 
liabilities effectively connected to the PE. Thus, a PE shall be subject to the same 
thin capitalisation rules outlined in par. 3.2.2. 

A PE can also benefit from NID (see par. 3.2.3) on its free capital increases 
(depending on the increases in the equity of the foreign investor, for the portion 
that is attributable to the PE). 

 

3.2 Investment period 
Investment returns are generally made up of profits attributable to the operations 
of the PE. According to the principles set in chapter 2, said profits are only subject 
to IRES. No branch profits tax on the repatriation of earning by the foreign 
investor applies. 

 

3.3 Exit 
The exit phase from a PE investment in Italy can be motivated by two different 
sets of reasons: 
(i) the intention to not have a physical presence in Italy any more: in this case, 

the investor might choose to dispose of the assets that make up the PE, 
ending up paying tax on any gains arising from such disposal; or 

(ii) the intention to change the degree of physical presence, by either: 
(a) converting the PE into an RP: according to the principles set within 

Chapter 1, this is only possible, if the foreign investor stops conducting 
any actual business in Italy, maintaining in the country facilities and/or 
assets that do not qualify as such; 

(b) upgrading from a PE to a subsidiary in the country: this transaction 
would end-up in the incorporation of the PE, i.e. by contribution of the 
PE into a new company (the transaction in hand could be tax-neutral, if 
the PE qualifies as a “going concern” according to Italian Tax Law). 
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 PART III 
 AN INTRODUCTION TO 
 ITALIAN LABOUR LAW 
 

Overview 
This part serves as a general overview on Italian labour law provisions that apply to 
Italian resident companies and the main issues regarding the relationships between 
employees, employers, trade unions and the government. 

A brief outlook on the topics of “employee secondment agreements” will also be 
provided. 

Structure 
This Part is divided into the following chapters: 

§ Labour law and regulations (Chapter 1); 

§ Secondment of employees to Italy (Chapter 2).  
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1. LABOUR LAW AND REGULATIONS 
Overview 
This chapter will briefly address the main principles that regulate working 
relationships in Italy, with particular reference to: 

(i) the entry phase, i.e. the various contract types available to an enterprise in 
order to have specifically dedicated personnel in its service; 

(ii) the working relationship, i.e. the rules to be followed during the course of the 
working relationship; and 

(iii) the exit phase, i.e. the ways available to terminate a working relationship in 
Italy. 

For the sake of simplicity, for the purpose of this paragraph, we shall only refer to 
the general category of "enterprises". Nonetheless, it should be clear that these 
rules generally apply to either of the structures analysed in Part I and II of this 
work, i.e. subsidiaries, permanent establishments and representative offices, 
regardless of their tax status (taxable vs non-taxable persons). 

The chapter will mostly be focused on the main features of a permanent 
employment contract, while still making short reference to other contract types. 

Chapter Structure 
This chapter is structured as follows: 

▪ Working relationships and contract types available (Paragraph 1.1); 

▪ Social security contributions – general aspects (Paragraph 1.2); 

▪ Contract execution (Paragraph 1.3); 

▪ Contract termination (Paragraph 1.4). 
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1.1 Working relationships and available contract types  
A working relationship can be established in Italy according to a different set of 
contracts. Employers may choose a contract type according to the needs of their 
enterprise and to the kind of performance required. 

1.1.1 Employment contract 

The standard contract for working relationships is generally the "employment 
contract", i.e. a contract of service, characterised by a (direct or indirect) 
subordination of an employee vis-a-vis an employer. The former accepts to 
become part of a (hierarchic) organisation to which he offers his services, in 
exchange for a salary paid by the latter. The employer takes care of the 
organisation of work and has the authority to direct his employees, to coordinate 
their work, combining it with all other factors of production (e.g., capital, 
resources, etc.) and to sanction his employees in case of failure to comply with the 
obligations deriving from their employment contract. 

The standard contract type is for full-time, permanent employment. This means 
that (i) the employee generally has a working schedule of 40 hours a week 
(generally from Monday to Friday), and that (ii) his employment contract does not 
have any expiration date (termination is not automatic, but can only occur in 
specific cases – see par. 1.4). To some extent, it is possible for employers and 
employees to derogate from the standard discipline. 

Part-time contracts are also available, if the parties so agree. A part-time contract is 
a form of employment that carries fewer hours per week than a full-time contract. 
This means that the employee either works for fewer hours a day (for all days from 
Monday to Friday) or only on some days of the week (for eight hours during each 
of the working days). 

It is also possible for parties to sign a fixed-term contract, provided that (i) they are 
stipulated in written form, (ii) fixed-term employees do not exceed 20% of the 
permanent workforce and (iii) the duration of the fixed-term contract for each 
employee (including renewals) does not exceed 36 months. 

During the past year, Italian Governments have constantly intervened to reform 
the main provisions applicable to fixed-term employment contracts, which 
previously could only be stipulated in some limited circumstances (as specifically 
provided by the law). Nowadays, no limitations apply to fixed-term contracts and 
Italian legislation on the matter has now become one of the most flexible in 
Europe. 

1.1.2 Self-employed work and continuous collaboration contracts 

An enterprise could also choose to purchase the services of a self-employed 
worker for a specific purpose. The main difference between this contract type and 
an employment contract, is that the supplier of services is a self-employed person, 
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with his own organisation and factors of production, who is not subject 
(hierarchically speaking) to the authority of the buyer. Also, whereas the services of 
an employee are provided on a continuous basis, the supply of services by a self-
employed person isn’t necessarily so. 

In some cases, it is possible to sign a continuous collaboration contract, where the 
supplier maintains a collaboration with the buyer on a continuous basis, while still 
retaining his independence, for the supply of specific services. This is the case, for 
example, for company directors (that are not, also, employees), and in some cases, 
collaborations with other professionals (e.g., lawyers, engineers, architects, etc.). 

 

1.2 Social security contributions – general aspects 
Each of the aforementioned contract types has its own, specific regulations for 
social security contributions. 

In general, an employment contract requires the employer to pay the greater part 
of social security contributions on behalf of the employee, the employee being 
liable for only a small percentage (9% of total contributions). Social security 
contributions are mandatory and are generally paid to national institutions, e.g., 
INPS (“Istituto Nazionale della Previdenza Sociale”), which provides for social 
welfare in general (pensions, disability and illness supports, maternity benefits, etc.), 
and INAIL (“Istituto Nazionale per l’Assicurazione contro gli Infortuni sul 
Lavoro”) for insurance against workplace injuries and fatalities. 

With reference to self-employed work, a contract for the supply of services does 
not impose any obligation onto the buyer, since the supplier has to pay social 
security contributions on his own. 

Enterprises are still liable to pay for their continuous collaborators’ social security 
contributions. The amount due, however, is generally lower than that owed for 
employees. 

For FY 2015, social security contributions for newly-employed workers are only 
due for the part exceeding € 8,060 per employee. Below this threshold, no 
contributions are due for the first three years of employment. 

Starting from FY 2017, and provided that specific conditions are met (i.e. the 
employer is located in some disadvantaged Italian zones and the employees has 
specific requirements), a limited social security contribution exemption applies. 

 

1.3 Contract execution 
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In general, the sources of employment legislation can be found in primary 
legislation (for general principles), national collective bargaining agreements, 
common business practices and individual contracts. 

Among others, the main obligations of an employee are: 

▪ the duty to provide his services with diligence; 
▪ the duty of loyalty, i.e. to perform his services without abusing of the good 

faith of his employer (e.g., without divulging any confidential information to 
third parties, without stealing from the employer, etc.) and 

▪ the obligation not to provide his services to a competitor for the entire 
duration of the employment contract with the current employer. 

On the side of the employer, the following obligations apply: 

▪ the duty to respect the professional qualification of the employee, i.e. it is 
impossible to have an employee do a job that does not match (or is of lower 
grade than) the one he was employed for in the first place (specific exceptions 
may apply in some limited circumstances); 

▪ the duty to restrain from transferring the employee elsewhere, unless specific 
technical, organisational and economic reasons apply; 

▪ the duty to protect the health of the employee, also by caring for security in 
the workplace. 

1.4 Contract termination 
An employment contract can be terminated on a mutual basis, by resignation or by 
dismissal of the employee. 

Dismissal (or layoff) of an employee may only occur: 

▪ either for a “just cause”, i.e. following a serious reason that poses a substantial 
obstacle as to the possibility of continuation of the working relationship; 

▪ or for a “justified motivation”, i.e. for a specific reason provided by the law. 

A just cause implies immediate termination of employment, whereas in case of 
justified motivation the employee is entitled to a period of notice. 

Whereas a just cause can only be related to a gross misconduct of the employee, 
the justified motivation can be dependant upon: 

(i) a less serious misconduct by the employee (which is, thus, compatible with the 
existence of a period of notice); and 

(ii) reasons related to the carrying on of the business of the enterprise, also with 
reference to the organisation of the workforce and/or the possibility to keep 
its activities running. An example of this could be the necessity for a 
redundancy in a moment of economic difficulties by the enterprise, or the 
intention to move its operations elsewhere. 
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with his own organisation and factors of production, who is not subject 
(hierarchically speaking) to the authority of the buyer. Also, whereas the services of 
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Enterprises are still liable to pay for their continuous collaborators’ social security 
contributions. The amount due, however, is generally lower than that owed for 
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For FY 2015, social security contributions for newly-employed workers are only 
due for the part exceeding € 8,060 per employee. Below this threshold, no 
contributions are due for the first three years of employment. 
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specific requirements), a limited social security contribution exemption applies. 

 

1.3 Contract execution 
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The period of notice for the employee depends on the industry he works in, on his 
rank or level (executive, manager, employee, white-collar, blue-collar, etc.) and 
seniority (i.e. length of service), also taking into account the provisions of the 
applicable national collective bargaining agreement. 

If the employment relationship is terminated for illegitimate reasons, i.e. reasons 
other than a just cause or a justified motivation, different provisions apply to small 
and medium enterprises (i.e. enterprises employing less than 15 employees) and 
other enterprises (i.e. enterprises with 15 employees or more): 

▪ in the former case, the enterprise shall have the obligation to pay a 
compensation to the ex-employee, ranging between 2.5 and 6 months’ pay 
(depending on various factors, like, for example, the length of service, the 
dimension of the enterprise, etc.), if the layoff is deemed illegitimate in a court 
of law; 

▪ in the latter case, a distinction shall be made between employment contracts 
stipulated until March 6th, 2015 (“Old Contracts”) and after that date (“New 
Contracts”): 
(i) in case of an illegitimate termination of an Old Contract, the employer 

may be ordered to reinstate the ex-employee and grant him a 
compensation payment; 

(ii) in case of an illegitimate termination of a New Contract, only 
compensation payments apply (ranging between 4 and 24 months’ pay). 

Reinstatements, in general, remain possible in case of a discriminatory layoff. 
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2. SECONDMENT OF EMPLOYEES TO ITALY 
Overview 
This chapter shall consist of a single paragraph, detailing the main issues for 
employees employed by a non-resident company to be seconded to an Italian 
company, permanent establishment or representative office. As was the case for 
Chapter 1, we will use the generic term “enterprise” to refer to any of the above-
mentioned structures. 

Chapter Structure 
International secondment of employees to Italy (Paragraph 2.1). 
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2.1 International secondment of employees to Italy 

2.1.1 Definitions 

Secondment of an employee to Italy is regarded as a viable alternative to 
establishing an employment relationship in Italy. 

According to Italian law, it is possible for an employer to second an employee, i.e. 
to detach him from his regular organisation for a temporary assignment elsewhere, 
for a specific interest of the enterprise. In general, a secondment can occur 
whenever the three following conditions are met: 

§ Existence of an interest by the original (or seconding) employer (the 
“Seconder”) to have his employee (the “Secondee”) perform his services for a 
third party (the “Host”); 

§ The fact that the secondment is only temporary, as the opposite of 
permanent, regardless of its duration; 

§ The fact that the Secondee remains employed by the Seconder - who will thus 
continue to pay him and to be liable for social security contributions - for the 
overall duration of the secondment, whereas the power to manage and 
supervise the employee lies with the Host. 

2.1.2 EEA countries and other countries 

If the international secondment agreement involves Italy as the host country, and a 
country member of the European Economic Area (EEA) as the home country of 
the employee, social security contributions will be due according to the law of the 
home country. 

Instead, if the secondment regards Italy and a country that is not a member of 
EEA, the local provisions shall apply and the Secondee shall be liable for social 
security contributions according to Italian law. However, the provisions of 
international social security agreements stipulated by Italy with other countries 
generally derogate from domestic principles and replicate the same treatment that 
applies for secondment agreements between EEA countries.
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CBA Studio Legale e Tributario 
With more than 120 professionals, operating in Milan, Rome, Padua, Venice and 
Munich, CBA offers high quality legal and tax solutions both for Italian and 
foreign companies operating in Italy. 

Our strong international commitment, thanks to our close ties to some of the most 
important international law firms worldwide and a strong network of relationships 
abroad, allows us to provide solutions to our international clients, while still 
retaining our independence as an Italian-based Tax and Law Firm. 

Our international strategy also aims at developing and cultivating long-standing 
relationships with other leading foreign tax and law firms and establishing solid co-
operation programs for mutual benefit. 
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FOREWORD 
With a population of over 60 million people, Italy is the third largest economy in 
the Eurozone and the eighth largest in the world. Situated in Europe, it has a 
surface area of 301,230 square kilometres (116,306 sq. mi) and its capital city is 
Rome. Italy is a Republic and has a system, where: 

▪ Parliament is the legislative branch; 
▪ Government is the executive branch; 
▪ The Supreme Court and a number of other lower courts and judges act as the 

judicial branch. 

Italy has a codified Constitution as its own fundamental law. Primary legislation - 
i.e. laws, law decrees, legislative decrees and regional laws - must comply with it. 
The main sources of primary legislation are systematic collections of laws, designed 
to deal with the core areas of legislation. Examples of these are the Civil Code, the 
Code of Civil Procedure, the Criminal Code, the Criminal Procedure Code, the 
Insolvency Law, the Law on Banking and Credit regulations, the law on Financial 
Institutions and Markets, the Navigation Code, the Income Tax Code, etc. EU 
regulations, Directives, Decisions and Recommendations shall also be regarded (or 
taken into account) as relevant sources of law. 

The Italian economy is broad-based, encompassing almost every type of sector, 
from industry (particularly food, electronics, fashion, engineering, automotive, 
etc.), to agriculture (wine, olive oil, wheat, milk, fruit and vegetables) and services 
(mainly tourism, retail, banking and financial). Italy is the world’s sixth largest 
manufacturing country and is characterised by a smaller number of multinational 
corporations than other economies of comparable size, and a large number of 
dynamic small and medium-sized enterprises, clustered in several industrial 
districts. 

Italy is a member of the European Union and the European Monetary System. The 
country has adopted the Euro as its currency since 2002. Italy is also a member of 
the WTO. 

Italy has always been regarded as the main door to the European market and, in 
general, to the countries of the EMEA (Europe, Middle East and Africa) area. 
Besides its privileged location, i.e. in the centre of the Mediterranean, it also has a 
large network of tax treaties and provisions (participation exemption rules, tax 
rulings, etc.) that make it an excellent regional or main headquarters location for 
carrying on investment worldwide. 

  75Doing business in Italy - A guide for foreign investors



00198 ROMA
Via Guido D'Arezzo, 18

00198 ROMA
Via Guido D'Arezzo, 18

00198 ROMA
Via Guido D'Arezzo, 18

00198 ROMA
Via Guido D'Arezzo, 18


